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ABOUT LEE & MAN PAPER

B3 A 3 33 AR

CHINA 77 5]

Chongqing Lee & Man .
(Yongchuan, 7k JI|)

99 Lee & Man
(Hongmei, 48)
Dongguan Lée & Man
(Huangyopg, 7&m&)

VIETNAM jeipe

Vietnam lee & Man
(Hau Giang, /ExI)

O\

PRODUCTS Em

Pulp NEE
Kraft Linerboard I AR
Test Linerboard o A P AR

Light Weight Kraftliner B

White Top Linerboard B T 4 4K
High Strength Corrugating Medium 7= 58 L 45 /&5 4K
Core Board HERA
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Guangdong Lee & Man Paper
BRI 4

Annual capacity: 1.85 million tons of

paper
FER : 1855 If 4%

Guangdong Lee & Man Pape

Dongguan Lee & Man Paper
REEEAS

Anr)ual capacity: 730,000 tons of paper
FERE 738 WA AR

Dongguan Lee & Man Paper

Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper

LRI AR

Annual capacity: 1.57 million tons of
paper
FER 157 & A 4%

Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper

Chongqing Lee & Man Paper
ERENER

Annual capacity: 400,000 tons of paper
and 180,000 tons of pulp
FERE A0 E WA 4% % 18 % A 4%
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

AFER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS Z£Eg

Executive director HITES

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman) BB E (EFE)

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond B85S JP (Chief Executive Officer) BBk BBS APt (BEHITE)
Mr Lee Man Bun E Qe

Mr Li King Wai Ross (resigned on 22 January 2010) TR A (FA2010F1 A2 BB T)
Non-executive director FHITES

Professor Poon Chung Kwong GBS JP E R LR GBS K BT
Independent non-executive director BYFEHITES

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FRERLE

Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Davies %t 4

Mr Chau Shing Yim David BEKEE
COMPANY SECRETARY NAEME

Mr Cheung Kwok Keung o B 98 %% A
REGISTERED OFFICE MR EE

Cricket Square Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681 P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111 Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands Cayman Islands
PRINCIPAL OFFICE BB R

5th Floor, Liven House BB

61-63 King Yip Street NEE

Kwun Tong WK AT61-635%

Kowloon Ml RESE

Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

RNEEH (F)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
In Hong Kong:

Hang Seng Bank
Standard Chartered Bank
Citibank, N.A.

HSBC

In the PRC:

China Construction Bank
Bank of China
Agricultural Bank of China

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited
Butterfield House

68 Fort Street

P.O. Box 705

George Town

Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
26/F Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

http://www.leemanpaper.com
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Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Profit Attributable to

Revenue owners of the Company Total Assets
— {7 P~
ON NEER ABGRF] BEERE
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
19,710
12,0001 11,099 2,000 1,833 20,000 18,677
17,015
9,649
10,000
8,996 1,441
1,600 15,000 1
8,000+
1,010 9,845
6,000+ 5,161 1,000 10,000
8778 600 4
4,000 5,77
500 30 5,000+
2,000+
0 0 0
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Total Equity Sales Volume (containerboard)
EREE tHE= (BIRREAR)
HK$ million HK$ million
12,0001 4,000 3,579
10,151
3,500
10,000 8.467 2,978
8,034 3,000 2,645
8,000
6,571 2,500
6,000 2,000 1,672
1,600 1,235
4,000 3577
1,000 1
2,000
500
0

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
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5-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
FEPBHHRE

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1+—-HLEE
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
—EERF —ETLEFE —TENF —ITTNGF gEeids
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FHT FHT FHT FHT TET

RESULTS ES
Revenue WA 3,778,054 5,160,552 8,996,113 9,649,365 WEKIELPLE]
Profit before tax BREL AT & F 625,586 1,041,005 1,499,146 337,470 EPXOREL
Income tax expense FIEHEX (25,558) (30,894) (68,026) (37,111) (236,893)
Profit for the year FEAH 600,028 1,010,111 1,431,120 300,359 1,833,305
Attributable to: AL

Owners of the Company UNGIEZ 2N 600,028 1,010,204 1,441,329 302,117 1,833,305

Minority interests D8 — 93) (10,209) (1,758) —

600,028 1,010,111 1,431,120 300,359 1,833,305
At 31 March
R=A=t+-8
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
ZTTRE ZTTHF T\ ZITTNF il

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET T

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY ¥E - 8ERER

Total assets BEERE 5,774,016 9,845,200 17,014,989 18,676,559 F kAL /)
Total liabilities BERE (2,196,972)  (3,274,499)  (8,980,680) (10,209,714) FEEELNFL)

3,577,044 6,570,701 8,034,309 8,466,845 EE[AEIEL )

Equity attributable to owners UNGIEZ 2N

of the Company FEEER 3,577,044 6,570,794 8,044,611 8,466,845 WKL
Minority interests DY R = = (93) (10,302) — -
Total equity e 3577,044 6570701 8034309  8466,845 MEIREIRIL
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
2 i

EEEF WK

RESULTS OF OPERATION

Revenue and net profit attributable to owners of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2010 was HK$11,099 million and
HK$1,833 million, representing an increase of 15.0% and 506.8%
respectively, as compared to HK$9,649 million and HK$302 million,
respectively, for last year. The basic earnings per share for the year
was HK40.30 cents when compared with HK6.64 cents for last year.

The increase in revenue was mainly attributable to the increase in
the Group’s sales of containerboard due to the result of the full year
commercial operation of PM12 and PM13 during the year.

The Group has quickly resumed profit growth since the financial
tsunami. The significant increase in net profit was due to the increase
in both sales volume and the profit margin. The increase in sales
volume was due to the machine optimization to increase production
capacities and the commercial operation of PM12 and PM13.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department (“IRD”) commenced a field audit exercise on
the Hong Kong tax affairs of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
In March 2010, the IRD issued protective profits tax assessments of
HK$156,975,000 (including assessments issued on a duplicate basis
of HK$104,650,000) relating to the year of assessment 2003/2004,
that is, for the financial year ended 31 March 2004, against certain
subsidiaries of the Company. The Directors are not in a position to
know if future protective assessments for subsequent financial years
will be issued but if significant resources (financially and by way of
management time) have to be committed to this, there may be an
adverse effect on the Group’s financial position and prospects.

DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING EXPENSES

The Group's distribution and selling expenses was HK$230 million
for the year ended 31 March 2010 as compared to HK$253 million
for the year ended 31 March 2009. It represented about 2.1% of
the revenue for the year ended 31 March 2010 and was slightly
decreased as compared to that of 2.6% for the year ended 31 March
20009.

TR MK e g
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WA RREVHER ANEIEET 5 5411099
BB R18331B A8 L 8 £ F #996.49
BAETT R302EE T - 5 RlE M115.0% &
506.8% ° AN F £ K B IR & F| £4030 %
il - KFRIAE6.64781l -

WALEATZRARAEEE+ R R
FETZRERRCE2FLEE  THALE
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EEHRSREBEPRERERFN - BH
EEREEFBEA  FTALERESE
RIEHE - EEER R IHN B HEE
BEMREENERETZSERET=5HER
BIGEE -

HE-_Z—ZETF=ZA=Z+—8HLHF
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RABTHEBARBEREEENE
B 1TEH -R-ZT—ZF=R BHKR
20032004 R FE - B EZE T F
ME=A=+—BLUBFE ALXA
AIETHWBRARZLREMERNGSHTR
156,975,000 7T (R iE R I & B B 3%
#9 5 £ 104,650,000/8 7T ) © & H I A&
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EBWMETERERL(MHREEEER)
EEL A AIRTRE Y AN E 2 B Bk
ARASEEEZE -

T

AEBHE-_ZT-ZTF=-A=+—HIL
¢EE@D$¢I&§%%§%Z%Z.SO1E/EE il
HE_ZTZTNF=ZA=Z+—"BLFEA
253 T c BE_Z—TFE=A=+—
HIEFEMNDHEREEEGERARYMT
BE21% MBE-_ZTAEF=A="
—BHIEFERAE26% o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (&)

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately
23.5% from HK$411 million for the year ended 31 March 2009 to
HK$508 million for the year ended 31 March 2010 as a result of
the expansion in the operation of the Group and the increase in the

Group's revenue during the year.

FINANCE COSTS

The Group's finance costs was HK$180 million for the year ended 31
March 2010 as compared to HK$219 million for the year ended 31
March 2009. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in average

amount of outstanding bank borrowings during the year.

INVENTORIES, DEBTORS" AND CREDITORS'
TURNOVER

The inventory turnover of the Group’s raw materials and finished
products were 82 days and 20 days, respectively, for the year ended
31 March 2010 as compared to 66 days and 20 days, respectively,
for the year ended 31 March 2009.

The Group's debtors’ turnover days were 60 days for the year ended
31 March 2010 as compared to 41 days for the year ended 31 March
2009. This is in line with the credit terms of 45 days to 60 days
granted by the Group to its customers.

The Group's creditors’ turnover days were 51 days for the year
ended 31 March 2010 as compared to 19 days for the year ended 31
March 2009. The Group settled much of its creditors’ balances near
year end in last year. The creditors’ turnover days were expected to
improve going forward given the Group’s higher bargaining power in
light of the industry consolidation.

THREH

AEBMITHRERSIBEBE-ZZTAN
FZA=+—RHILFENINEET £
AzZHEZE—_ZT—ZTF_A=F+—HLTF
ER5.081EE T L INAI23.5% ° TTHE
BEMEN RARAEBERFEARNER
BIE - ARAKNEERWAIE TR -

B 35 AR

BE-T-TF=A=t-ALFE
AR E N HRA BT - HRE
E-EFAFSAST—BLEEAAR
219 - BB A T B E B i F
R T RITE R D HH -

8 - BUWRRRENKRRE
B

AEERBE-_E—ZEF=A=+—H
FEFENRMEYEKMTFEREHD R
B2 A K208 MAREBE_ZTETNF=
A=+—HIEFERID A #66H X208 °

AEERBE_T-TF=A=+—H
FEEOHRERXEAEHK60H - MR
BE_ZTTNF=A=+—HIEFEA
RAB T AEEBTEL —KR4ASK
EORMEEH -

AEERBE_T-TF=A=1—H
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AEBEEEEZRERD AULEEE
HENENAERITEEMNE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWE DM (&)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The total shareholders’ fund of the Group as at 31 March 2010 was
HK$10,151 million (31 March 2009: HK$8,467 million). As at 31
March 2010, the Group had current assets of HK$6,688 million (31
March 2009: HK$5,747 million) and current liabilities of HK$4,619
million (31 March 2009: HK$5,690 million). The current ratio was 1.45
as at 31 March 2010 as compared to 1.01 at 31 March 2009.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in
Hong Kong and the PRC. As at 31 March 2010, the Group had
outstanding bank borrowings of HK$7,073 million (31 March 2009:
HK$8,542 million). These bank loans were secured by corporate
guarantees provided by certain subsidiaries of the Company. As at
31 March 2010, the Group maintained bank balances and cash of
HK$625 million (31 March 2009: HK$1,659 million). The Group's
net debt-to-equity ratio (total borrowings net of cash and cash
equivalents over shareholders’ equity) decreased from 0.81 as at 31
March 2009 to 0.64 as at 31 March 2010.

The Group possesses sufficient cash and available banking facilities to
meet its commitments and working capital requirements.

The Group’s transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi or United States
dollars. The Group has not experienced any material difficulties or
effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in
currency exchange rates during the year ended 31 March 2010.
During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group has used currency
structured instruments, foreign currency borrowings or other means
to hedge its foreign currency exposure.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BEEEN®E D (&)

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had a workforce of about 7,160
people. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive level and
are reviewed annually, with close reference to the relevant labour
market and economic situation. The Group also provides internal
training to staff and provides bonuses based upon staff performance
and profits of the Group.

The Group has not experienced any significant problems with its
employees or disruption to its operations due to labour disputes nor
has it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of
experienced staff. The Group maintains a good relationship with its

employees.

The Group has a Share Option Scheme whereby employees of the

Group are granted options to acquire shares in the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SEEARE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. The board of directors (the “Board”) of the
Company believes that sound and reasonable corporate governance
practices are essential for the growth of the Group and for
safeguarding and maximizing shareholders’ interests. During the year
under review, the Company has complied with the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The objectives of the management structures within the Group,
headed by the Board and led by the Chairman, are to deliver
sustainable value to Shareholders.

The Chairman provides leadership to and oversees the effective
functioning of the Board. With support of the Chief Executive Officer
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman approves Board meeting
agenda, and ensures Directors have proper briefing, and timely

receive adequate and reliable information, on all Board matters.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive
Officer, and different persons hold the separate offices. Chief
Executive Officer heads the management and focuses on the day-to-

day operations of the Group.

DIRECTORS" SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions in 2004. All the members of the
Board have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company
that they have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2010. The Model
Code also applies to other specified senior management of the

Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and Role

The Board comprises:

Executive Directors:

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond BBS JP

Mr Lee Man Bun

Mr Li King Wai Ross (resigned on 22 January 2010)

Non-executive Director:
Professor Poon Chung Kwong GBS JP

Independent Non-executive Director:
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

Mr Chau Shing Yim David

During the year, the Board comprises of four executive directors (one
of whom is the Chairman), one non-executive director and three
independent non-executive directors. In addition, three of the
independent non-executive directors possess appropriate legal,
professional accounting qualifications and financial management
expertise.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic
development of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial
performance and the internal controls of the Group’s business
operations.

The independent non-executive directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective
corporate governance framework. The Board considers that each
independent non-executive director is independent in character and
judgment and that they all meet the specific independence criteria as
required by the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive director an annual confirmation or
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The independent non-executive directors are explicitly
identified in all of the Company’s corporate communications.
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14 Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2009/10 Annual Report



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving
the agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all directors.
Notice of at least 14 days have been given to all directors for all
regular board meetings and the directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
board papers in respect of regular board meetings are sent out in full
to all directors within reasonable time before the meeting. Draft
minutes of all board meetings are circulated to directors for comment

within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all
directors have access to board papers and related materials, and are
provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed

before it.

During the year, full board meetings were held and the individual
attendance of each director is set out below:

IRREAERES BEEREERL
EREBREFEER AR - HEAN
BRIONBEBERURINBEZEITRES
NHRE EFAEREZRBRANAES®
FH -ARERBERE —ExERE
BERHAEXHEEREM A ERRARN
BEXATEEF BHgRLETER
EERRANERRSEREHN 77 THER -

EFEeNESFZROZ R LR MAH
CEMEREZIMERTFE MAEEZENE
BREMEFE XM RERBERN KER
ERHERHEN FEFSANRES
TR AR A R IR Y HI T

FR CEAERESFS ZREFLRE
BRFHAT

Number of meetings

attended/Total
Name of director EEng B THEEEERE
Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick FERSLE 4/5
Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 885 Jp I8 L HE BBS A T H#+ 5/5
Mr Lee Man Bun ED QT 5/5
Mr Li King Wai Ross E P 3/5

(resigned on 22 January 2010) (FA2010F 1 A22 A& (E)

Prof Poon Chung Kwong 685 Jp E R NI GBS A P 5/5
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony EREERELEAE 5/5
Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Davies %t 4 5/5
Mr Chau Shing Yim David RERK K E 4/5
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2003 and its current

members include:

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr Peter A Davies
Mr Chau Shing Yim David

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in
legal, business and accounting on the Audit Committee. The
composition and members of the Audit Committee complies with the
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The written terms
of reference which describe the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee were adopted in 2003 to conform to the provisions of
the Code, a copy of which is posted on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group’s financial
reporting and other information to shareholders, the system of
internal controls, risk management and the effectiveness and
objectively of the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides
an important link between the Board and the Company’s auditors in
matters coming within the scope of its terms of reference and keeps
under review the independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters including a
review of the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2010.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

During the year, four Audit Committee meetings were held and the
individual attendance of each member is set out below:

FR AGFORERZESSH @
IR EMHFEERFEINAT

Number of attendance

Name of member REHE HE IR E
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FREREE 4/4
Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Davies 5t 4= 4/4
Mr Chau Shing Yim David JE AR e A 3/4

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 and the
current members include:

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr Peter A Davies
Mr Chau Shing Yim David

All members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-
executive directors. The Remuneration Committee advises the Board
on the Group’s overall policy and structure for the remuneration of
directors and senior management. The Remuneration Committee
ensures that no director or any of his associate is involved in deciding
his own remuneration. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee were adopted in 2005 to conform to the provisions of

the Code, a copy of which is posted on the Company’s website.

In determining the emolument payable to directors, the
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the directors, employment conditions elsewhere in

the Group and the desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to determine the
policy for the remuneration of directors and assess performance of
executive directors and certain senior management. One
Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the year and all

members have attended in the meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

AUDITORS" REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the auditor of the Company only
provided audit services to the Company.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal controls
of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is
committed to implementing an effective and sound internal controls
system to safeguard the interest of shareholders and the Group’s
assets. The Board has delegated to executive management the
implementation of the system of internal controls and reviewing of
all relevant financial, operational, compliance controls and risk

management function within an established framework.

DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In
preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2010, the
directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments
and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and have prepared
the accounts on the going concern basis. The directors are also
responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Group.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information about
the Group’s performance to shareholders through the publication of
interim results and annual results in a timely manner. In addition to
dispatching circulars, notices and financial reports to shareholders,
additional information is also available to shareholders on the website

of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders
to raise comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the
Company gives at least 21 days’ notice. The Chairman and Directors
and external auditors are available to answer questions on the
Company’s businesses at the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. In addition, procedures for demanding a poll are included
in the circular to shareholders dispatched together with the annual
report.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

TrELAEEMT

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Over the years, the Group has been fully committed to environmental
protection. The management implemented various measures and
controls to ensure that our duties to the environment have been
fulfilled. Our production plants are built in compliance with all the
international environment management standards and we have
employed the most effective form of technology to ensure the Group
to be one of the most environmentally friendly companies in the
world. To ensure all the measures are carried out properly, the
management has set up an Environmental Protection Division
personally led by the Chief Executive Officer and a team of qualified
professionals. Periodic internal control meetings are held to review
the environmental issues in the production plants, to update any
environmental laws and regulations and to make valuable
suggestions and recommendations for improvement. In the next five
years, the Environmental Protection Division will put more effort to
ensure high environmental standards are persistently met in the key
areas of production process, waste water treatment, water and
energy consumption and emission control.

Environmentally-Friendly Production Process

The Group’s advanced production machines are designed to enable
high usage of recovered paper during the production process. One of
the Group’s long term objectives is to increase the usage of waste
paper and to decrease the usage of virgin pulp. Currently, our paper
is produced at 97% recycling rate (i.e. 97% of paper fibers are
recyclable materials) and we have one of the highest recycling rates
among all containerboard manufacturers globally. To ensure a stable
supply of recovered paper, we have several sourcing teams globally
and we have also sponsored a number of partners in China to collect
waste paper, which not only create jobs locally but also make the

surrounding area more environmentally friendly.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)
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Water Consumption and Waste Water Treatment
Plant

Water consumption is highly dependent on the quality of the waste
water treatment and the amount of water reused in the production
process. To minimize water pollution in the production process, the
Group currently employs the world’s most advanced waste water
treatment technology, the two stage aerobic anaerobic treatment,
which results in waste water discharged to adhere to the highest
standards set by the national environment bureau. Our current COD
discharge is at or below 80mg/l, while the national discharge
standard is at 100mg/l. More importantly, by reusing waste water in
our production process, we can significantly reduce the water
consumption to less than 10m*/ton of paper produced and this is

approximately one-tenth of the national average.

Energy Consumption

Another long term objective of the Group in environmental
protection is to reduce the energy consumption. It can be achieved
by generating power more efficiently and to use less energy in the
paper making process. The Group aims to achieve these goals by
using better technology (such as changing our existing motors to
frequency-controlled motors) and simply by managing better. In
addition, we make use of the methane generated in the anaerobic
treatment of waste water to help combustion in the coal-fired power
plant. Solid waste discharged in the production process could also be
used to help combustion. Currently, we operate at 0.43 ton of
standard coal per ton of paper produced and our target is to reduce
to less than 0.40 ton of standard coal per ton of paper produced in
the next five years. This level is substantially less than the national

average of 1.3 ton of standard coal per ton of paper produced.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

EEEEE(A)

Emission Control

Reducing energy consumption leads to less emission. All our coal-
fired power plants are installed with particulate filtration and
desulphurization equipment and the discharge emission is always
monitored on-line, ensuring the emission levels are met with the
national regulatory requirements. For instance, the sulphur dioxide
(SO2) emission in our plants is less than 200mg/m’, well below the
national standard of 400mg/m’.

HUMAN RESOURCES STRATEGY

At Lee & Man Paper, we believe that our staff are the most important
resources and their well-being, growth and performance are tied
tightly to the group’s success. To create a pleasant working and living
environment, the Group has carried out various actions to review and
improve policies and facilities continuously. Moreover, the Group also
pays high concern on its staff’'s career development. Through a
carefully designed internal training system and continuous effort in
identifying potential talents, the Group aims to help its staff develop
multi-skills capability, enrich knowledge, and craft a career path that
can unleash their potentials and elevate their values to satisfy their
growth needs and to better align with the Group’s strategy and
growth.

Caring Our Staff

With staff well-being as one of our core values in managing human
resource, Lee & Man is committed to providing employees with
pleasant work environment and rich personal lives. We believe that
only through building a satisfied and committed workforce we can,
as a team, achieve sustainable development and success. Our
management is open to listen to our staff’s voice and suggestion.

The Group always reviews and improves catering, residence and
recreational facilities and services to provide a pleasant living
environment to the staff. The Group also devotes much effort in
organizing cultural events and recreational activities to enrich the
lives of its staff and their families. Being in the Lee & Man Paper big
family, we have set up a financial aid scheme helping staff and their
families directly during the rough times such as sicknesses and
accidents.
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Career Development

As Lee & Man Paper understands that the growth of its staff equals
the growth of the Group, we pay great attention in helping staff to
acquire new skills and knowledge to better fit with the Group’s
strategy. To meet with the global trend for multi-skills talent and to
encourage lifelong learning, every year the Group has organized a
series of internal training programs as well as subsidizing staff to
study further. With the Lee & Man’s performance management
system, together with the Group’s continuous effort in identifying
talents, capable staff are selected to enter our management trainee
program that aims to set new heights to their career path. The Group
has also sent students to Guangzhou’s South China University of
Technology for a two-year diploma course on paper making
technology that are fully funded by the Group and students are

placed into various positions after graduation.

AWARDS AND CERTIFICATIONS

Lee & Man Paper has always been committed to being a model
enterprise with a keen sense of social responsibility. To demonstrate
our past efforts in protecting the environment, each of the
Huangyong, Jiangsu and Hongmei plants has been awarded the
ISO14001 certification for environmental management. In 2008 Lee
& Man Paper was awarded the “Green Medalist” by The Federation
of Hong Kong Industries to cite our successful and completion of
environmental projects in air emission control, water consumption
and energy consumption that were continuously carried out in the
plant. In addition to the ISO14001 certification, our plants have also
been granted the ISO9001 certification for quality management. In
November 2009, we were awarded the Hong Kong-Guangdong

Cleaner Production Partner (Manufacturing).

To provide a safety working place is very crucial to us. Our
Huangyong plant and Jiangsu plant were granted with OHSAS 18001
certification for Occupational Health & Safety, demonstrating our
commitment in caring about employee safety and quality of working
environment. The certifications ensure that we have taken various
measures to improve efficiency of internal operations and
consequently reduce accidents, danger and downtime as well as

ensuring our compliance with current legal requirements.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)
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Furthermore, our plants in Hongmei, Huangyong and Jiangsu have
also been awarded IECQ QC080000 certification for Hazardous
Substance Process Management. This certification provides
confidence to our customers that our products are compliant, and

that do not contain prohibited substances.

Over the years Lee & Man Paper have made numerous donations and
we have received many awards from governmental authorities to
confirm our past contribution towards the industry and the society as

a whole.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, aged 67, Chairman of the Company
and founder of the Group, is in charge of senior staff recruitment,
staff management, corporate strategy, building construction and
public relations for the Group in the PRC. He has over 47 years of
experience in manufacturing and international trade. Mr Lee is the
former standing member of the Political Consultative Committee of
Guangdong Province and former chairman of Hong Kong Hainan
Commercial Association. He is now the honorary principal of the
Qionghai Jiaji Secondary School and Hainan Guoxing Secondary
School. He has also been awarded honorary citizenship of Dongguan.

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond, 8s8s, Jp, aged 39, Chief Executive
Officer as well as founder of the Company, is primarily in charge of
corporate planning, investment projects and acquisition of heavy
production machines. Mr Lee has over sixteen years of operational
experience in paper manufacturing and is experienced in professional
formula of paper making and product development. He holds a
bachelor’s degree in applied science from the University of British
Columbia. Mr Lee is currently involved in a number of public
engagements. Mr Lee has been awarded honorary citizenship of
Dongguan and reputational citizenship of Changshu. Mr Lee was the
“Young Industrialist Award of HongKong 2002” and “2003 Hong
Kong Ten Outstanding Young Persons Selection Awardees”. In 2005,
Mr Lee received the “Bronze Bauhinia Star” (BBS) from the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and in
2007, he was appointed non-official Justice of the Peace (JP). In
2008, Mr Lee was also appointed the CPPCC National Committee.
He is also an independent non-executive director of the listed
company, Bossini International Holdings Limited. Mr Lee is the eldest
son of Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (conTinUED)

Mr Lee Man Bun, aged 29, Executive Director and General Manager
of the Group, is responsible for production management, research &
development, repair and maintenance of production machines and
factory staff management. Mr Lee holds a bachelor’s degree of
Applied Science in Chemical Engineering from the University of
British Columbia in Canada. He is the member of the Political
Consultative Committee of Guangdong Province and also the Vice
Chairman of Yan Chai Hospital Board of Directors. He joined the
Group in July 2003. Mr Lee is the youngest son of Mr Lee Wan
Keung Patrick.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, Gss Jp, aged 70, the non-executive
director of the Group, is the President Emeritus of the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and has over 40 years working experience in
educational sector. He was appointed Non-official Justice of the
Peace (JP) in 1989; received the OBE in 1991 and the Gold Bauhinia
Star (GBS) in 2002 and the Honorary Doctorate Degree in Humanity
by The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2009.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony, aged 67, an independent non-executive
Director of the Group, has been a practicing lawyer in Hong Kong
since 1968 and has also been admitted as a solicitor in England and
Wales. He is currently a consultant at Messrs. Hastings & Co.,
Solicitors and Notaries.

Mr Peter A Davies, aged 67, an independent non-executive Director
of the Group, is a retired lawyer. He has over 40 years of experience
in the legal field, practising both as a solicitor and a barrister in
England and Hong Kong. Over the years, he has been a partner of
Messrs. Deacons, Solicitors, and a Directorate Officer and the head of
the Insider Dealing Unit with the Department of Justice of Hong
Kong. He was appointed to be a notary public in Hong Kong in
1974.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr Chau Shing Yim David, aged 46, an independent non-executive
Director of the Group, has over 20 years' experience in corporate
finance, working on projects ranging from initial public offerings and
restructuring of PRC enterprises for cross-border and domestic
takeovers. He was formerly a partner of one of the big four
accounting firms in Hong Kong, heading the Merger and Acquisition
and Corporate Advisory Services. He is a member of the Hong Kong
Securities Institute, the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England
and Wales (“ICAEW") with the Corporate Finance Qualification
granted by ICAEW, and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"). Mr. Chau was an ex-committee member of
the Disciplinary Panel of HKICPA. He is an executive director of
Tidetime Sun Holdings Limited and a non-executive director of
Shandong Molong Petroleum Machinery Company Limited and
Varitronix International Limited, both are listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr Chan Kai Leung Clement, aged 46, is the Group Vice President,
responsible for the management of the Group’s investor relations and
investment banking functions. Mr Chan holds a master's degree in
Business Administration from the University of Sheffield in the United
Kingdom. He is @ member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr Chan has over 21 years of experience in auditing &
accounting, investment banking and corporate financial

management. He joined the Group in February 2010.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conTinUED)

Mr Cheung Kwok Keung, aged 43, is the Chief Financial Officer of
the Group responsible for the internal supervision and management
of the Group’s financial matters and company secretary of the
Company. Mr Cheung is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and has over 21
years of experience in the field of auditing, accounting and financial
management. Mr Cheung is also an independent non-executive
director of the listed company, Sheng Yuan Holdings Limited. He
joined the Group in August 2002.

Mr Yan Jean Goo, aged 44, is the general manager of Guangxi Lee
& Man Forestry responsible for plantation management. Mr Yan
holds a bachelor’s degree in economics from the University of Xiamen
and has over 22 years of experience in production and operation
management. He joined the Group in November 2006.

Mr Chan Kong Sang, aged 50, is the project manager (power
station and piers) of the Group, responsible for all the mechanical
and electrical engineering projects. Mr Chan holds a bachelor’s
degree of science in engineering from the University of Hong Kong.
Mr Chan has over 27 years of operational experience in managing
production and engineering aspects of manufacturing businesses and
joined the Group in January 2001.

Mr Chung Wai Fu Patrick, aged 46, is the senior manager of
Jiangsu Lee & Man, responsible for Jiangsu plant operation and
management. Mr Chung holds a bachelor degree of production and
logistic management and a master degree of business administration
in human recourses management from the University of Southern
Queensland respectively. He has over twenty years of management
experience working in both multinational and local listed companies
in China. Mr. Chung joined the Group since November 2008.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conTinUED)

Mr Hue Kwok Chiu Boris, aged 44, is the senior purchasing
manager of the Group, responsible for procurement of Coal, LOCC
and production raw materials. Mr Hue holds an honor bachelor’s
degree of Management from the University of Hong Kong. He has
over 20 years of experience in management of multinational

companies in PRC. Mr Hue joined the Group in March 2007.

Mr Tse Pak Kong, aged 47, is the senior manager of the Group,
responsible for the global procurement of recovered paper
businesses. Mr Tse holds a bachelor’s degree of science in electrical
engineering from the University of Hong Kong. He has over 23 years
of experience in the management of both multinational and local
companies in China. Mr Tse joined the Group in December 2005.

Mr Fung Sau Keung, aged 56, is the executive manager of
Guangdong Lee & Man, responsible for the daily operation and
management of Guangdong Lee & Man. Mr Fung holds a bachelor’s
degree of science in Business Administration from National College
of Business and Art, Philippines. He has over 32 years of experience
as senior management of public listed and multinational company
over South East Asia and China. Mr Fung joined the group in July
20009.

Mr Chu Kwok Lung, aged 48, is the executive manager of
Dongguan Lee & Man, responsible for the daily operation and
management of Dongguan Lee & Man. He has over 25 years of
manufacturing experience. He joined the Group in June 2006.

Ms Lam Sau Ping, aged 41, is the sales manager of the Group
responsible for sales and marketing. Ms Lam holds a higher certificate
in marketing and sales management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Ms Lam has over 20 years of work experience in sales and
marketing. She joined the Group in March 1996.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
R

g

The directors present their annual report and the audited financial

statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 38 to the

consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2010 are set
out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page
42.

The directors of the Company recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK8 cents per share for the year ended 31 March 2010
to the shareholders whose name appear on the register of members
on 16 August 2010, amounting to approximately HK$364 million,
subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company are set out
in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
at a cost of approximately HK$701 million for the purpose of
expanding its business. Details of this and other movements in the
property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set
out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond, 88s Jp (Chief executive officer)
Mr Lee Man Bun

Mr Li King Wai Ross (resigned on 22 January 2010)

Non-executive director

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, G8s Jp

Independent non-executive directors

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr Peter A Davies
Mr Chau Shing Yim David

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Lee
Wan Keung, Mr Wong Kai Tung, Tony and Mr Peter A Davies retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick and Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond have
each entered into service agreement with the Company for an initial
period of three years commencing 1 September 2007, which will
continue thereafter unless and until terminated by either party by
three months’ prior written notice.

Mr Lee Man Bun has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial period of three years commencing 16 August
2007, which will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by
either party by three months’ prior written notice.

The term of office of the non-executive director and each of the
independent non-executive directors is the period up to his retirement
as required by the Company’s Articles of Association.
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DIRECTORS"” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES" INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2010, the relevant interests or short positions of the
directors or chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO") which are required to be notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange"”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they have taken or
deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO) or were
required pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein or were required, pursuant to the relevant
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) relating to securities transactions
by directors to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
were as follows:

Long positions

(@) Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company

Number of

EERTETHRAERRAHE
ﬁ%%’%ﬁ%ﬂiﬂ}?ﬁﬁﬂ’ﬂ* i KOR B

R-ZE-—ZTF=ZA=+—8H" ZIK’AET%
EESTETRABEARA K E A
ZE(EEREHMAE G ([ %&Hﬂ
S0 S+ R WD - HEERGD &
&P ﬁﬁﬁ]ﬂ//ﬁ@%m%&Hﬂ;{lﬂJ
FETHAMETIREID AR ENGT AR
REEBAXZAERR T(FH&*“ﬁﬁJ)
MBEBRDIAR (BREREES LS
SR BRGXRGIEREFEREDN
BERR)ARBEESFLAEHEME
352 R /A RCER N BX R AT 1 B0 & R M D B 4
BYRBIREBEB MBS EHRAN(T £
MR BHEEFTETESFRXINEH
{378 A& AN 1 A) Ko Bk 52 P EY A 2R E0OK
BT

(@) AREFHREEO0.025%8 T E B

Number of Percentage of
the issued
share capital

of the Company

ordinary shares
subject to
options granted

Name of director Capacity ordinary shares BEHNBRER GHXRQOAERT
BEEnR &1 ZERHE BERNEBERHE RAEBDH
Lee Wan Keung Patrick Held by controlled 2,867,388,800 — 63.01%
Z @R corporation (Note)
mEESDEE A (M)

Lee Man Chun Raymond Beneficial owner — 121,968,000 2.68%
Fxlk EnfBA

Lee Man Bun Beneficial owner — 81,200,000 1.78%
QS EnfBA

Poon Chung Kwong Beneficial owner 840,000 640,000 0.03%
BRI EnfBA

Wong Kai Tung Tony Beneficial owner 600,000 — 0.01%
FRUR EnfBA

Note: These shares were held by Gold Best Holdings Ltd. (“Gold Best”). Gold
Best is a controlled corporation of Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick under the
SFO. The entire issued share capital of Gold Best is owned by Mr Lee Wan
Keung Patrick, Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr Lee Man Bun (all of
them are directors of the Company). Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick and Mr
Lee Man Chun Raymond, both of whom are directors of the Company,
are directors of Gold Best.

B4 5E : 5% 5 % {5 A Gold Best Holdings Ltd. ([ Gold
Best|) i - IRBEH KRB E KA -
Gold Best /& F i 58 5t 4 2 ZEHIEE -
Gold Best®) &= H B B TR A = iE A
Sl EXEEERTIORLE (RS
HARAADNEE)RHE - FTEATER
EXBEEE(ZAYARRRES) A
Gold Bestz &% ©
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS EERFTEZTBAERRAIHE

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT

SECURITIES (conTINUED)

Long positions (Continued)

(b)

wRa#E)

Ordinary shares of the associated corporation of the (b)

Company

BREZTEBNERRXE (&)

AR A EEOEE @K

Percentage of
the issued share

capital of

Name of the associated

associated Number of corporation

Name of director Capacity corporation  ordinary shares HEEEES

ESHE g6 HEEEEE EEREE BTREEIHL

Lee Wan Keung Patrick Beneficial owner Gold Best (Note) 51 51%
FiER BB A (P 3E)

Lee Man Chun Raymond Beneficial owner Gold Best (Note) 29 29%
FXE BB A (P 3E)

Lee Man Bun Beneficial owner Gold Best (Note) 20 20%
3@} BB A (P 3E)

Note: Gold Best is an associated corporation of Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick
under the SFO. The entire issued share capital of Gold Best is owned by
Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr Lee Man
Bun (all of them are directors of the Company). Mr Lee Wan Keung
Patrick and Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond, both of whom are directors of

ML BB ESF LG G

» Gold Best &2 8

58 5T A MY MEEE A E o Gold Bestth 2 302
BOTRARFTERELE FXERELER
FXHELE(2HIRARABTES)H
B FEREERTXEREE(ZAY

the Company, are directors of Gold Best. RARFIEE) KGold BestZ EE o

B EXPBEEINRBRTETESRER
REANGAEARERRFHAE TH
BARMNETHRGOIN RZE-—FF=
A=+—HB J%&8% FE2ETHAEK
RENBEATHELEARR RIS EEM
MEBOEERRD - HERGOHESFF
BEEMERIRE -

Save as disclosed above and other than certain nominee shares in
subsidiaries held by certain directors in trust for the Company, none
of the directors or chief executives or their associates had any
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations as
at 31 March 2010.
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SHARE OPTIONS B

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note N2 Bl BT B B X B B WX
29 to the consolidated financial statements. MIEE29 ©

The following table discloses movements in the Company's share T 7] R 1& # & A A 5 R F N B IR #E &1 &
option scheme during the year: T2 -

Number of shares of the Company
to be issued upon exercise of the share options

REREETERET
BOWERBARDEE
Exercise
price per Outstanding Outstanding
share at 1 April Cancelled Exercised at 31 March
=300 2009 during during 2010
Date of TEE Exercisable —EBAF the year the year —E-2F
Name grant HK$ period A—H FR FR =A=t-—H
=18 RHBEH BT TR i R AT6E AHEHAE TRHE R ATEE
Category I: Directors
-8 B=
Lee Man Chun E3¢ 3.10.2006 3.775 1.1.2008 to 1,968,000 — —_ 1,968,000
Raymond 31.12.2010
5.9.2008 1.872 1.9.2009 to 120,000,000 — — 120,000,000
31.8.2013
Lee Man Bun E gy 3.10.2006 3.775 1.1.2008 to 1,200,000 — — 1,200,000
31.12.2010
5.9.2008 1.872 1.9.2009 to 80,000,000 — — 80,000,000
31.8.2013
Poon Chung Kwong & 5= ¢ 3.10.2006 3.775 1.1.2008 to 1,920,000 — (1,280,000) 640,000
31.12.2010
Category II: Other employees
$£-8: &S
Employees EE8 3.10.2006 3.775 1.1.2008 to 2,880,000 (1,200,000) — 1,680,000
31.12.2010
Total 1B 207,968,000 (1,200,000) (1,280,000) 205,488,000

The closing prices of the Company’s shares on the dates of grant of 3~ 722006 €10 A3 H %2008 49 A5 H #& 1}
October 2006 and 5 September 2008 were HK$3.77 and HK$1.67 HBHIZBARARKREZKTES B A3.77
respectively. BT R1.678TT °

Note:  The above information has been adjusted to reflect the effect of share Pt : FHEME FHE - URMEE W EREM
subdivision as set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. H28FTEH RN DT 2R -
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Options” above, at no
time during the year was the Company, its holding company or any
of its fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debts securities (including
debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate and none
of the directors, their spouses or children under the age of 18, had
any rights to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such rights.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2010, the following persons (other than directors or
chief executives of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the ordinary shares of the Company which fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by

the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company

ordinary shares held

EEREROIEZHED

B EX[HBRE] —&SmEEEN AQ
A HERAR - EAEMRRZRWE R R
KBS A B RY B 9 AT ) 5 PR AR 4B BT S AF
A2 BERARRESAERREBAR
“ﬂﬁ&ﬂﬁ@iAl%m%ﬁﬁ%%
BEHE(BDIEERESE) MERFZ  m&E
%ﬁ&ﬁmMﬁﬁmmuTm%ﬁW%
AREBARAEBLFMEMER - HET
EEMZEREF

FERR

R-ZE—ZFTF=ZA=+—H  THA(K
NEIEBREFEITRABRIN EARAF
WEBRPEEBRES %&Hﬁiﬂlﬂﬁﬂ
THIBE2REINDEBHREERMAER
BEOEZIAE  HBEF %&Hﬂi"i
i 28 336 1% /Y 1R E B i 8 A A Bl R 3%
BEENELMANERAR

wr
AR R EE0.02578 L) & E A

Percentage of the

Number of issued issued share capital

of the Company

Name of shareholder Capacity BEE#T EERLARE BT

BRERM%E 5% ZEREAR BABD L

Gold Best Beneficial owner 2,867,388,800 63.01%

E=HEAA

Lee Wong Wai Kuen Held by spouse (Note) 2,867,388,800 63.01%

TEHIB mEBEFE (M)

Note: Under the SFO, Lee Wong Wai Kuen is deemed to be interested in these st - REBEEFLBERG  ARTERESTER
2,867,388,800 ordinary shares as she is the spouse of Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a (Gold BestEz #EA A ) MBS - MR SR
beneficial owner of the Gold Best. %2,867,388,800 1% i 1/ % A9 #E 25 o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (conminueD)
Long positions (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, the Company had not
been notified by any persons (other than directors or chief executives
of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of the Part
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive directors are

independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the board of directors
engaged the auditor of the Company to perform certain agreed-
upon procedures in respect of the continuing connected transactions
of the Group. The auditor has reported to the board of directors the
factual findings arising on these procedures. The independent non-
executive directors have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions and the report of the auditor and have confirmed that
the continuing connected transactions entered into by the Group
were in the ordinary and usual course of its business, on normal
commercial terms, or on terms no less favorable than terms available
to or from independent third parties, and in accordance with the
terms of the agreement governing such transactions that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company

as a whole.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (coNTINUED)

Details of the discloseable connected transactions for the year are set
out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. In the
opinion of the independent non-executive directors, these

transactions entered into by the Group were:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) either (@) on normal commercial terms; or (b) where there is no
available comparison, on terms that were fair and reasonable
so far as the shareholders of the Company are concerned;

(i)  either (a) in accordance with the terms of the agreements; or (b)
where there are no such agreements, on terms no less
favourable than those available to or from independent third

parties; and

(iv) within the relevant cap amounts as agreed by the Stock
Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which are
required to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS” INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the heading “Connected Transactions”, there
were no contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding
company or any of its fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisting at the end of the year or at

any time during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers were approximately 72% of the Group’s total
purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest

supplier were approximately 27% of the Group’s total purchases.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS (conTINUED)

The aggregate sales during the year attributable to the Group’s five

largest customers were less than 10% of the Group’s total sales.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder which, to
the knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital had any interest in the share capital
of any of the five largest suppliers of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries

purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the Company
has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended
31 March 2010.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws, or the laws of Cayman lIslands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing

shareholders.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits
including insurance and medical cover and share options are also

provided.

The determination of emoluments of the directors of the Company
has taken into consideration their expertise and job specifications.
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DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to HK$3,468,000.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of a significant event occurring after the reporting period are

set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting of the
Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor
of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Wan Keung Patrick
Chairman

Hong Kong

21 June 2010
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

8 M % D

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE MEMBERS OF LEE & MAN PAPER
MANUFACTURING LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 42 to 151,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2010, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes.

DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

HENERERIARR
(REASHSFMA LA EFRAE)

AZEMITEEZIANEREZEFISIE
NZBERERAR(EAR]D RE
MEAR (UWTABAIEEE]) 2KE
WEREBER-_Z—ZF=/=+—
BrzraMBRAER BBEEZEZBILESF
EzirerElaR GAEREHE
AR ERER URTEEKE
BEE K E M AR RE o

EERGAVBBMRAAEN
e

BERAEFEARERBEELAEHMAE
B2 BAMBREENR(EBRAIE
7)) B B2 5B AR E AR 5 R BB T A S 1 51 3R
RLEGRAVBRE -  ZFEETBRERSR
Bl E BRI LERN AT R
RAEMBHRRBE ANIEE - NEL
ARMBBRAIFEBRNRFRERTE
BHeEXERRL : EERERBEEZ
SEBRER RREATEFHAEN &
et e
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BB RS ()

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and true
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2010 and
of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 June 2010
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SAe T HWE

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z - T—FTF=H=+—HIFZ

2010 2009
e —TTNF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
{ik=d THET FHT
Revenue WA 5 11,099,263 9,649,365
Cost of sales HERA (CREAPIEPIN  (8,606,348)
Gross profit EF 2,786,481 1,043,017
Other income H bl A 6 228,045 190,422
Net loss from fair value changes ATEF BT A RAFEEE
of derivative financial instruments 2= 4 #),% 18 (27,293) (10,919)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBAREE 33 - (1,820)
Distribution and selling expenses %5 4% % 45 & & F (229,748) (253,244)
Administrative expenses THER (507,668) (411,143)
Finance costs B 75 A AR 7 (179,619) (218,843)
Profit before tax B 5% B &1 A 2,070,198 337,470
Income tax expense AR H 8 (236,893) (37,111)
Profit for the year FERA 9 1,833,305 300,359
Other comprehensive HEt2mEka= (FAX)
income (expense)
Exchange differences arising on HmERIMNGEEE ZEN EZ5
translation of foreign operations (35,022) 301,093
Gain (loss) on hedging instruments  $fd T A R 35 & 7% & ¥ b
in cash flow hedges Bk (E8) 36,547 (4,794)
Cumulative loss on hedging FIERRIEMER SRS
instruments reclassified to profit BRzHHRTAZ ;,Jr 518
or loss upon early termination 25 37,342 —
Other comprehensive income AEEHMEE R
for the year 38,867 296,299
Total comprehensive income 2FEBEEIENR
for the year 1,872,172 596,658
Profit for the year attributable to:  fE{RARFEE & F|
Owners of the Company NEER A 1,833,305 302,117
Minority interests DEAR — (1,758)
1,833,305 300,359
Total comprehensive e 2 E K
income attributable to:
Owners of the Company NEEB A 1,872,172 598,416
Minority interests DB E — (1,758)
1,872,172 596,658
HK cents
(restgated)
R
(E )
Earnings per share (= bl 13
— Basic —HRK 6.64
— Diluted — 8 6.64
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R MR R

At31 March 2010 —ZF—LH#=HA=+—H

Notes
k=2

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment YE - BB K& 14
Prepaid lease payments A& IR 15
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEWE  BELERE

property, plant and equipment Rt AERNET &

and land use rights 16
Interest in an associate B & A Bl = 17
Deferred tax assets EETRIE & E 26
Retirement benefit assets RARENEE 27
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories rE 18
Prepaid lease payments TENEERKIE 15
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 & H b AR K 19
Amounts due from an associate JE Uk Bt i B 5R0E 20
Amounts due from related FEW R B A R R IE

companies 21
Derivative financial instruments TEVBITE 25
Tax recoverable A 3R 61 7% 18
Restricted bank deposits BRRFIRITIER 22
Bank balances and cash RITEB RS 22
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Derivative financial instruments TEVBITE 25
Trade and other payables JERTE 5 I H A BR 5K 23
Tax payable FE T H18
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 24
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EELERABERE

LIABILITIES

2010
—z-%%
HK$'000
FE

12,401,446
373,826

245,869

13,021,983

2,203,858
7,670
3,317,779
437,753

58,683
434
35,160
1,908
625,244

6,688,489

120,836

1,954,831

69,811

2,473,383

4,618,861

2,069,628

15,091,611

2009
—EENF
HK$'000
FAET

12,222,870
336,513

314,951
55,000
202

12,929,536

1,635,918
14,018
2,146,879
253,999

22,129
5,064
7,664
1,908

1,659,444

5,747,023
97,854
848,933
5,259
4,738,379

5,690,425

56,598

12,986,134

EERBR AR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

e BARRR (E)

At31 March 2010 —ZF—LH#=HA=+—H

2010 2009
S-S —TTNF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 7t FE T FHET

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES IRBERF
Derivative financial instruments PTHEFKIA 25 21,910 139,347
Other payables H AR 23 = 364,042
Bank and other borrowings RITREAMEE 24 4,599,316 3,803,321
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE 26 319,539 212,579
4,940,765 4,519,289
10,150,846 8,466,845

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAK#E
Share capital A& 7 28 113,770 113,738
Reserves H 1 10,037,076 8,353,107

10,150,846 8,466,845

The consolidated financial statements on pages 42 to 151 were SEREFISIEfH NG BREEN

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 Z—ZE—ZTHF A+ —HE&EESE
June 2010 and are signed on its behalf by: RERETE  WHTIHESEKEREE
Lee Wan Keung Patrick Z=3E i@ Lee Man Chun Raymond Z X &
Chairman F & Director %
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

ReEmZER (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 & 1F —

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

—BFEZA=+—HILFE

The capital contribution arose from the disposal of subsidiaries in a prior period to
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group’s ultimate holding company.

In accordance with the provisions of the Macao Commercial Code, the Company’s
subsidiaries in Macau are required to transfer a minimum of 25% of the annual
net profit to a legal reserve, whenever dividend is declared by the subsidiaries,
until the reserve reaches half of the capital of the subsidiaries. This reserve is not
distributable to the shareholders.

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal
value of the aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired by the Group
pursuant to the corporate reorganisation in September 2003, and the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition.

In October 2008, the Group acquired the remaining 10% equity interests in each
of two subsidiaries from their minority shareholders at an aggregate consideration
of US$35. The excess of the carrying amount of the net liabilities acquired over
the fair value of the consideration paid has been debited directly to equity.

feE -

)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

BB MASEREERAR —REEN
BRAREHHEEWBRFMS -

AR IR P A B A0 RS+ AS D BIAL OB P A0 B
BREARDERMEREDIRKE - BEBETD
MNERLF 25% NEBEREELAEE B
EQNHESEMBRARAZMEAN — ¥R &
EREESTEAIRTIE -

AENFRREEBREARBER-_TT=FN1
PR EEEE SR E A B A BN E B 45
HEARFRUBEEMETOROEENZE
% o

RZBZENFE+A AREARRMELRZ
PHBRREBEEZMEANEARSEHRT 10%
mo BRE/3IS I MUBRBEFEZE
EeHEBHANRKEZAFEZBECEER
P o
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CONSOLIDATED NAURY/=

EE%/)ILE’IEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010 & |F =&

n/-,l_\

NT OF CASH FLOWS

—BFZA=+—HILFE

2010 2009
—E-EF ZEENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEEK
Profit before tax AT & T 2,070,198 337,470
Adjustments for: RATBIEHE
Amortisation of prepaid lease TE & RIR
payments 12,862 21,590
Depreciation of property, ME BELERBHINE
plant and equipment 484,252 405,571
Finance costs B TS AR R 179,619 218,843
Imputed interest income on ELEREBEEEHFERA
deferred consideration — (1,070)
Interest income F B U A (13,217) (19,298)
Loss on disposal of property, TEWE BMERRBELECEE
plant and equipment 5,621 8,293
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR ZEIE = 1,820
Net loss from fair value changes of [ #74 Bf 7§ T BN (B & 8h & £ 1)
derivative financial instruments FEE 27,293 10,919
Retirement benefit (gain) expense  BIREF (U A) F 2 (640) 526
Share-based payments expense RS MHRIERY 57,221 6,485
Write-down on inventories 7 &R — 42,000
Operating cash flows before EEECEPINECERERE
movements in working capital 2,823,209 1,033,149
(Increase) decrease in inventories 17 & (& 0) J&k 2> (567,940) 668,615
(Increase) decrease in trade and FEWE SRR EAMBE K (18 h0) B>
other receivables (1,230,896) 467,731
Increase in amount due from FE U A 8 58 FRIE 180
related companies (36,554) (15,613)
Decrease in derivative financial PTHEF BT AR
instruments (43,229) (113,203)
Increase (decrease) in trade and FEMBE R EmBEF i ()
other payables 732,855 (62,313)
Cash generated from operations RS IR IR S 1,677,445 1,978,366
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BB EMSH (37,877) (15,979)
Overseas income tax paid SAEINA BT — @n
Interest paid B2 E (251,328) (350,986)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING REEXBABHNREFHE
ACTIVITIES 1,388,240 1,611,360

BIGERAR AR 2009/10 F3R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

RERERER(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 & 1f —T—FF=H=+—HIFZ
2010 2009
Ll —TTNF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FAT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETH
Purchases of property, BEWE  BEMEE
plant and equipment (547,031) (1,407,856)
Advance to an associate Bl A=NGIEEN (183,754) (112,063)
Prepaid lease payments B HERIE (38,974) (17,578)

Deposits paid for acquisition of BEME  BEMEER
property, plant and equipment T ERREMNET &

and land use right (20,454) (314,951)
Interest received B B 13,217 19,298
Proceeds on disposal of property, ~ H & ¥ % BB K& EFT1S 3KIE

plant and equipment 591 154,178
Increase in restricted bank deposits 75 R &l $R 1T 1% 7 3% 1N — (1,395)
Proceeds from disposal of HEMB AR TERIE

subsidiaries 33 74,055
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ®REZFEHEBAMBESFER

ACTIVITIES (716,409) (1,606,312)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mMEEE
Repayment of bank and other BRBITRHEMER

borrowings (7,765,531) (5,454,404)
Dividends paid B E (250,224) (170,607)
New bank and other borrowings ~ #1& % fETT&Eﬁﬁ EN

raised 6,296,530 6,966,510
Net proceeds from issue of shares % i@ 17 1% B A% 4 if 35 77 AR 19

through exercise of share options  Ff {5 7k 78 % &8 4,832 —
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM RETEH (BR) MERLFH

FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1,714,393) 1,341,499
NET (DECREASE) INCREASEIN B4 RELZEYWE (D)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2 tn%8 (1,042,562) 1,346,547
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B2 RBESZEYRA L

BROUGHT FORWARD 1,659,444 318,188
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE EXSBH o HE

CHANGES 8,362 (5,291)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERBLZEBYEE

CARRIED FORWARD

represented by bank balances RITHEBKRIR S

and cash 625,244 1,659,444
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_-—F—FF=H=+—HIFFE

GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (2009 Revision) of
the Cayman Islands on 21 May 2003 and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its parent and ultimate holding company is Gold
Best Holdings Ltd. (“Gold Best”), a private company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Its ultimate controlling
party is Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick. The address of the
registered office and the principal place of business of the
Company is disclosed in the Corporate Information section of

the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note
38.

—BEH

ARBlREMAERRQR R
“HFAA-+—HIRBEHESHS
AE(ZETNEFR) RHASEEK
U REBELRRERERBRAG  KH
WREBBER AR AT ([H
REF)) £ & RA RE&EER
A A /& Gold Best Holdings Ltd. ([ Gold
Best])  A—EREABRE LS
M ZFLARE] o HEEES T
BEERLE - ARAFMHER
FMBRMBE MR AFRAADE
BRI FR o

A

I

HEMBHREXNBT(ET] X
R RARBZNEEE -

RKArAl2—BREERAR  &=F
THE QAN E EEBEH NS R
*WFE38 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e VB mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z - &

—BFEZA=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

("HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and revised standards, amendments and interpretations (“new
and revised HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA").

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007)
HKAS 23 (Revised 2007)

HKAS 32 & 1
(Amendments)

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27
(Amendments)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)
HKFRS 7 (Amendment)
HKFRS 8

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 &

HKAS 39 (Amendments)
HK(IFRIC)-Int 13
HK(IFRIC)-Int 15
HK(IFRIC)-Int 16

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

Presentation of Financial

Statements

Borrowing Costs

Puttable Financial Instruments

and Obligations Arising on
Liquidation

Cost of an Investment in

a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled
Entity or Associate

Vesting Conditions and

Cancellations

Improving Disclosures about

Financial Instruments

Operating Segments
Embedded Derivatives

Customer Loyalty Programmes

Agreements for the Construction

of Real Estate

Hedges of a Net Investment in

a Foreign Operation

Transfer of Assets from

Customers

Improvements to HKFRSs issued

in 2008, except for

the amendment to HKFRS 5
that is effective for

annual periods beginning on or
after 1 July 2009

Improvements to HKFRSs issued

in 2009 in relation to
the amendment to
paragraph 80 of HKAS 39

JEFH%?&%E%{I Rl BB
REER ([BEMBREE

E'JJ)

RAFEE  ANEEERTIAEFE

EHEAB(EEE
ST e
B HREER] ) -

Eh oz RE

(I RERT 2 BB

BESHENE R
(2007453T)

BBSHENEBY
(F200737)

ARETERENT R
EabACH)

BRI HREER
FIRRERGIEN
275 (£3])

BRYBREEN
F2R(B3T)

BRBREED
F75E (BERT)

BRVBREEN RO

BE(EARMBRSER

Z8%)

7k (ERRBHRERE
ZEQ)-REH13%
BE (BERmBRE2E
géa> RES15%
BERMERERE
%EE@) REZ16%
BERHERERE
ZE ﬁ%%%wﬁ
B8

&
g)-
BRYHREEN (B3

ERYBRE

-2REIRR
BRGINERIE39% (B3]

3| (5]
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)

AEAE )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continuED)

Except as described below, the adoption of the new and revised
HKFRSs has had no material effect on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the current or prior accounting

periods.

New and revised HKFRSs affecting presentation
and disclosure only

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of Financial
Statements

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) has introduced terminology changes
(including revised titles for the financial statements) and
changes in the format and content of the consolidated financial

statements.

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments
HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard that has not resulted in a

redesignation of the Group’s reportable segments (see note 5).

Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments
(Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures)

The amendments to HKFRS 7 expand the disclosures required
in relation to fair value measurements in respect of financial
instruments which are measured at fair value. The Group has
not provided comparative information for the expanded
disclosures in accordance with the transitional provision set out
in the amendments.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_-—F—FF=H=+—HIFFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. J*EFH%T&%‘:%TI R 2B BIK
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS REEN(BEMBHREE
("HKFRSs") (conTINUED) ,\JJ) (&)

The Group has not early applied the following new or revised AEBWEEFZEATHEEMGE
standards, amendments or interpretations that have been i R AR BT AT S FT R - (B
issued but are not yet effective: AR KR
HKFRSs (Amendments) Amendment to HKFRS 5 as part EERBREE HERHBREENESHH
of Improvements to HKFRSs (BEIAK) BIER-ZTNE
2008' BEHBREER RN
—#5'
HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs 20092 FAMBREEN H_ZTNEFANY
(3T7E) RERAI U
HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs 2010° EERBREE H-Z2-ZEERUH
(AT%) HEER M
HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Dsiclosures’ BB GEREuR BEATHE
(13T)
HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate BAQHENEIHR BARBUNBRE'
Financial Statements' (8163T)
HKAS 32 (Amendment) Classification of Right Issues® BRETERERY #RnsE
(AT%)
HKAS 39 (Amendment) Eligible Hedged Items' BB EERE39% RERYHER
(3T%)
HKFRS 1 (Amendment) Additional Exemptions for EERBREEE ERERENENSL
First-time Adopters* 15 (B3 K)
HKFRS 1 (Amendment) Limited Exemption from BRI HREE EREBNBREENETR
Comparative HKFRS 7 EAEACCHES) PHEREREREN
Disclosure for First-time EREHA
Adopters®
HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Group Cash-settled Share-based BANBREER EENESEEOURN
Payment Transactions® F25 (BTH) RERZRANZ S
HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations' BRI HREE Ey el
35 (BB
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments® EERBRELHES SRIE
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Prepayments of a Minimum TEERNBRERE REASRENERFE
(Amendment) Funding Requirement’ ZE8)-REBEUR
CHES)
HK(IFRIC)-Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets TE(ERMBRERE MABADRERGEE'
to Owners' %E’m%)—?{%%%%w%f
HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities EERNBRERE URFIABEYHARE
with Equity Instruments® Z88)- ﬁ%%%mf
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continuED)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

Amendments that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
July 2009 or 1 January 2010, as appropriate

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 and 1
January 2011, as appropriate

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

The adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the accounting
for business combination for which the acquisition date is on or
after 1 April 2010. HKAS 27 (revised) will affect the accounting
treatment for changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary.

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” introduces new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets and
will be effective from 1 January 2013, with earlier application
permitted. The standard requires all recognised financial assets
that are within the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement” to be measured at either
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that
(i) are held within a business model whose objective is to collect
the contractual cash flows and (i) have contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost.
All other debt investments and equity investments are
measured at fair value. The application of HKFRS 9 may affect
the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial
assets.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
the other new or revised HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z - &

PR Rk MY RE (4)
— A=t AUEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEGIEEER
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on REMBRERRELRAERE -
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments, MR AFEFEZETHE AR
which are measured at fair values, as explained in the Oh FR T X 2GR °
accounting policies set out below.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in HREVBHRERDBREEEG M
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards PNEBRLR CBEANBKEARR - 3
issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial Gy R AR E BIEB T E
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules MRAT LA REE QAR
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange and FFEBETETHREERE -
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
Basis of consolidation mER%E
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial BEMBREEINARARZARD
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the AEHZER(EWB AR NIB
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the WK -RHRARAEREEE —XK
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating PENMBEREETRARELEE
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. TEB R -
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the FAREIEENNBRARTNER
year are included in the consolidated statement of RKEBERBR  SFAZE2ZEK
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition mRARGELREERBE L ]
and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. fa] & 3@ A
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial WMEE AEEGHWER 2 M5
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in WMREHARE  THEHBREERR
line with those used by other members of the Group. EEEMKERARFMERAERE —

ﬁ o

All intra-group transactions and balances are eliminated on FMEEREARG REREREESE
consolidation. B ¥dE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries
are presented separately from the Group's equity therein.
Minority interests in the net assets consist of the amount of
those interests at the date of the original business combination
and the minority's share of changes in equity since the date of
combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the
minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against
the interests of the Group except to the extent that the
minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an
additional investment to cover the losses.

Business combinations

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at
the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of
assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the business
combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition
under HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” are recognised at
their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest
in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the
business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially
measured at the minority’s proportion of the net fair value of

the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses and is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that financial year. When the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first,
and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognized directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent

periods.

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill
capitalized is included in the determination of the amount of

profit or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries

The Group regards the acquisition of additional equity interest
in subsidiaries from minority shareholders without change in
control as transactions with equity owners of the Group. When
additional equity interest in a subsidiary is acquired, any
difference between the fair value of consideration paid and the
relevant share of the carrying value of the subsidiary’s net assets

acquired is recorded in equity (other reserve).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipments including buildings held for use
in the production of goods or for administrative purposes,
other than freehold land and construction in progress, are
stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and

accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than freehold land and
construction in progress over their estimated useful lives and
after taking into account their estimated residual value, using
the straight-line method.

Freehold land is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses and is not depreciated.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or for
its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost
less any recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress is
classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.
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58

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the period in

which the item is derecognised.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a
joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
investments in associates are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-
acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of
the associates, less any identified impairment loss. When the
Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. An additional share of losses is provided for and
a liability is recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the
cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_-—F—FF=H=+—HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates (Continued)

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s

interest in the relevant associate.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets
The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the two
categories, including loans and receivables and financial assets

at fair value through profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or,
where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as
at fair value through profit or loss, of which interest income is
included in net gains or losses.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including trade and other receivables, amounts due
from an associate, amount due from related companies,
restricted bank deposits and bank balanced and cash) are
carried at amortised cost using effective interest method, less
any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment on financial assets below).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group’s financial assets classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are derivatives that are not
designated as hedging instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured
at fair value, with changes in fair value arising from
remeasurement recognised directly in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or
loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of the
reporting period. Financial assets are impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For loans and receivables, objective evidence of impairment

could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

o default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

or

J it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments and observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with

default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss where there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the

original effective interest rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are

credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at
the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not

been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group are
classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial

liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are classified into
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and other

financial liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_-—F—FF=H=+—HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on

initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis
other than those financial liability classified as at fair value
through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss

The Group’s financial liabilities classified as financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss are derivatives that are not
designated as hedging instruments.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value arising on
remeasurement recognised directly in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade and other payables
and bank and other borrowings) are subsequently measured at

amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated as hedging
instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in

profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging
instruments for cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedging relationship the entity
documents the relationship between the hedging instrument
and hedged item, along with its risk management objectives
and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.
Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing
basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument
that is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective in
offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged
item.

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualified as cash flow hedges are
recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in

profit or loss.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity (hedging reserve) are reclassified to
profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item is recognised
in profit or loss.

Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2009/10 Annual Report

SETBER (#)

FTEMKE T AR E

PTETERITEAWNTIZLBHOL
BRATFTEER HERBREHRRE
M 22 ERATFE -FTELEZAEE
BIRRE=P R BRIFITELA

RIEREEREHIA  AIRER
BRNKEEFEPEERNELM

=

iE °

HhaEEE

AEBREXLEMETAERE AT
/Ec ﬁﬁﬂziﬁﬁumggﬁ: °

REHRE 2SR - BRCEYEM
TAMBEEREBNEE  RET
Xiﬁﬂﬁlﬂﬁc%zrt REEBBERE

B o L SN - R R 4R AR B AR
EEETHHE  AKELREARY
HERZHPTARBEREGEAN
WERERKE P RBENAFELRE

/)ILE ﬁ@]

BeRna#h

BEEMMEEREReREERZ
METEAFEES  HEXBH
REAM LIRS W AR - HERE
D2 BENRRIEENTER -

EWEHPIBEERBEARERE
HZ RN E M2k Rt
’E/\\%ET(ﬁFﬁ%{%)ZﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂE%ﬁ
B miE s

/I




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Cash flow hedge (Continued)

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the
hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated, exercised, or no longer qualified for hedge
accounting. Any cumulative gain or loss accumulated in equity
at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the
forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss.
When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the
gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any. If the recoverable amount
of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense

immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised as income immediately.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold in the normal course of business, net of discounts
and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sales of goods are recognised when goods are

delivered and title has passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #HZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=+—HI FZF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Income from supply of steam and electricity is recognised upon
the provision of the steam and electricity.

Income from the rendering of wharf cargo handling services is
recognised in the financial period in which the services are
rendered.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits
received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an
operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental expense
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

Leasehold land and buildings

The land and building elements of a lease of land and building
are considered separately for the purpose of lease classification,
unless the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, in which case, the entire lease
is generally treated as a finance lease and accounted for as
property, plant and equipment. To the extent the allocation of
the lease payments can be made reliably, leasehold interests in
land are accounted for as operating leases and amortised over

the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Prepaid lease payments

Prepaid lease payments represent the up-front payments to
lease medium-term leasehold land interests in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") and Vietnam and are charged to
the profit or loss in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the term of

the relevant leases.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Government grants related to depreciable
assets are recognised as a deduction from the carrying amount
of the relevant asset in the consolidated statement of financial
position and transferred to profit or loss over the useful lives of
the related assets. Other government grants are recognised as
revenue over the periods necessary to match them with the
costs for which they are intended to compensate, on a
systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in

the period in which they become receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit scheme and the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) are charged as an
expense when the employees have rendered the services

entitling them to the contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of
providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit
method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end
of the reporting period. Actuarial gains and losses which
exceed 10 per cent of the greater of the present value of the
Group’s defined benefit obligations and the fair value of plan
assets at the end of the previous reporting period are amortised
over the expected average remaining working lives of the
participating employees. Past service cost is recognised
immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested,
and otherwise is amortised on a straight-line basis over the

average period until the amended benefits become vested.

The retirement benefit assets recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position represent the fair value of the
plan assets as adjusted for unrecognised actuarial gains and
losses, and as reduced by the present value of the defined
benefit obligation. Any asset resulting from this calculation is
limited to unrecognised actuarial losses and past service cost,
plus the present value of available refunds and reductions in

future contributions to the plan.

Equity-settled share based payment
transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference to
the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a

corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share based payment
transactions (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss,

with a corresponding adjustment to share option reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred
to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be

transferred to retained profits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—ZF—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction

that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits
of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse

in the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax
liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end
of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity respectively.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FE M HKRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_-—F—FF=H=+—HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise
except for exchange differences arising on a monetary item
that forms part of the Company’s net investment in a foreign
operation, in which case, such exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity and will be reclassified from equity to profit or loss on

disposal of the foreign operation.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end
of the reporting period, and their income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in

equity (the translation reserve).
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair values of derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps and
foreign currency forward contracts are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at fair values, as
disclosed in note 25. The best evidence of fair value is quoted
prices in an active market, where quoted prices are not
available for a particular financial instrument, the Group
applied the valuation techniques commonly used by the market
practitioners. The use of methodologies, models and
assumptions in pricing and valuing these financial assets and
liabilities is subjective and requires varying degrees of
judgement by management, which may result in significantly
different fair values and results.

Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2009/10 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_-F—FF=H=+—HIFFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Recognition of deferred tax

As at 31 March 2010, no deferred tax liabilities have been
recognised on the distributable profits of the group companies
in the PRC as the Group plans to retain those profits in the
respective entities for their daily operations and future
developments. In case there is distribution of profits, additional
tax liabilities will arise, which will be recognised in the profit or
loss for the period in which such profits are declared or the
future development plan of the Group amends, whichever is

earlier.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 "“Operating Segments” with
effect from 1 April 2009. HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard that
requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of
internal reports about components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (i.e.
the board of directors) for the purpose of allocating resources
to segments and assessing their performance. In contrast, the
predecessor standard (HKAS 14, “Segment Reporting”)
required an entity to identify two sets of segments (business
and geographical) using a risks and returns approach. In the
past, the Group’s primary reporting format under HKAS 14 was
business segments, comprising manufacture and sales of paper
and manufacture and sales of pulp. The application of HKFRS 8
has not resulted in a redesignation of the Group’s reportable
segments as compared with the primary reportable segments
determined in accordance with HKAS 14.

Nor has the adoption of HKFRS 8 changed the basis of

measurement of segment profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #HZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=+—HI FZF

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WWARDEER (#)
(CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results DHBARER
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results NTRAERTRENDHRAR
by reportable segment. HERAMN
For the year ended 31 March 2010 BE-_Z-—ZEF=ZA=+—HLHF
E
Paper Pulp Eliminations Consolidated
AR R R =a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET FExT FExT
REVENUE LON
External sales HINE & 10,666,243 433,020 — 11,099,263
Inter-segment sales B ZEHEE — 238,077 (238,077) —
10,666,243 671,097 (238,077) 11,099,263
SEGMENT PROFIT STEER 2,239,629 30,241 2,269,870
Net loss from fair value RAPTEIE T A (27,293)
changes of derivative ANYEEHES
financial instruments B F B 18
Unallocated corporate AN EZRFIRA 13,217
income
Unallocated corporate KOBEZ AR H (5.977)
expenses
Finance costs B FS B AR (179,619)
Profit before tax A& T 2,070,198
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDEESR (&)
(CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DHERARGER ()
For the year ended 31 March 2009 BE-_ZEAF=ZRA=1+—HLEF
E
Paper Pulp Eliminations ~ Consolidated
AR R IS o)
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FA&T FAT FAT FA&T
REVENUE LON
External sales HINHE 9,280,495 368,870 — 9,649,365
Inter-segment sales ERoBEE — 138,237 (138,237) —
9,280,495 507,107 (138,237) 9,649,365
SEGMENT PROFIT (LOSS) £ ¥ & 7| (&18) 534,036  (52,468) — 481,568
Net loss from fair value ETAHEMBE T A (10,919)
changes of derivative NEEEHEL
financial instruments " FEE
Unallocated corporate RO ZRBRIRA 91,708
income
Unallocated corporate FOEZRRIZH (6,044)
expenses
Finance costs B 75 i 2N (218,843)
Profit before tax AT & 7 337,470
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the AIRE DB 2 @R Ty KT 3 AT
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. MASE ST BRERMAR - 2 HA
Segment profit (loss) represents the profit earned by (loss from) FM(EB)IBS D IAMEINE R (&
each segment without allocation of net loss from fair value B) mMPESRERETEREIA
changes of derivative financial instruments, interest income, net NEEEHELENFEE - FIEK
exchange gain (loss), loss on disposal of subsidiaries, finance A ERWE(BE)F8 - B8
costs and other unallocated corporate income and expenses. BRBZEE KA EDE
This is the measure reported to the board of directors for the REMWMA RS -

purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates. DEEEE IR RITM B BIRETE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #HZE_—F—FTF=HA=+—HI-FZF

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WAKRZEER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities PEEERAER
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities NTRAEEARENDEEER
by reportable segment: BESN
2010 —=_=x

Pulp Consolidated

R =E

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FTET THET

Segment assets DHEEE 17,492,035 955,949 18,447,984
Unallocated corporate assets AOBEZRANREE 1,262,488

Consolidated total assets RAEBEE 19,710,472

Segment liabilities SEAE 1,053,603 40,688 1,094,291
Unallocated corporate liabilittes F®2 32 AR&&E 8,465,335

Consolidated total liabilities e = 9,559,626
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z - &

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

—BFEZA=1—HILFE

5. WARDHER (&)

(CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) THEEREBE(E)
2009 —EEAF
Paper Pulp  Consolidated
#ok N5 e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT THT
Segment assets DrREE 15,859,474 582,539 16,442,013
Unallocated corporate assets ADEZRRIBE 2,234,546
Consolidated total assets IREREE 18,676,559
Segment liabilities DIEAE 329,975 8,246 338,221
Unallocated corporate liabilites KOz ArlBE 9,871,493

Consolidated total liabilities mAEAaE 10,209,714

RIFEEDIRE RN D EHE D A
BR FEBEEEHUSETA®RES
BOREHIBEE - RIKEFNEE -
FEWEE ARIRIE  EREBRER
ARIB - TAMBIE  ATREIM
BHBRHBITER  RITEHK
BeARBAHREDEHERAK
HWEERIMN AR BEEGEAS
RPaHREDH (CTEVHIAR - &
MRE - ROKREMEE - BELEH
BEBERAREDBHEREMNHHE
b BERIN) o

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources among segments, all assets are allocated to
reportable segments other than deferred tax assets, retirement
benefit assets, amounts due from an associate, amounts due
from related companies, derivative financial instruments, tax
recoverable, restricted bank deposits and bank balances and
cash and other assets used jointly by reportable segments, and
all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than
derivative financial instruments, tax payable, bank and other
borrowings and deferred tax liabilities and other liabilities for

which reportable segments are jointly liable.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #HZE_—F—FTF=HA=+—HI-FZF

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WAKRDEESR (#)
(CONTINUED)
Revenue from major products REETEEMIWA
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its TREBAEERETZEMNHKA
major products: DT
2010 2009
—E2-2F —TENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Paper segment 4R =6 10,666,243 9,280,495
Pulp segment AR oAb 433,020 368,870

11,099,263 9,649,365

Revenue from paper segment comprises revenue from sale of MR o S U A B FE 2R B A AR - B
Kraft linerboard, test linerboard, light weight Kraftliner, white BFEE AEFEE 2R8EE
top linerboard, high strength corrugating medium and core R MEERBOES KA -
board.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—ZF—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Geographical information
Over 95% (2009: 95%) of the Group’s revenue from external

customers are in the PRC.

The following is an analysis of the non-current assets, analysed

by the geographical location of the assets are detailed below:

WARDEBER (&)

i 19 & R

AREBINREF 2 WATBEI5% (=
TTNF : 95%) REHE -

REEMGEHRONTNFERBEE
T

Non-current assets

PRC other than Hong Kong PR BB
Vietnam o]
Hong Kong HE

RBEE
2010 2009
—z-z7 [EEEEIE:
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi# Tt
12,280,005 12,079,892
737,984 790,364
3,152 4,078
13,021,141 12,874,334

note: Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets, retirement benefit assets
and interest in an associate.

Information about major customers

None of the Group’s customers contributed over 10% of the

Group’s total revenue for either year.

M FRBDEETERBELERAERE - BRI
BHEBEERBEARMED -

ITBEEFEHR

TEAEEEF(HAREEBRAR
3@100/0 ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z - F—F#=FH=+—HIFFEF

6. OTHER INCOME H AU A

o

2010 2009
—E-=F —ETNEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Compensation income from suppliers  HEEGHIERE MATIEZ
for damaged goods B E U A 1,620 4,818
Income from sales of steam and HEEIEEHERA
electricity 77,855 37,243
Income from wharf cargo handling LETEEEIRA 53,968 38,493
Interest from an associate iE RN AR E 11,051 16,004
Interest income from banks RATH B A 2,166 3,294
Net foreign exchange gains FE R S5 — 71,290
Sales of scrap materials and BRI R EE AR SHE
waste paper 16,432 11,179
Value added tax refund (note) EERERR (K 40,322 —
Others H ity 24,631 8,101
228,045 190,422
note: B 3
A subsidiary of the Company is involved in the production of paper products ARA—FRMBLARSHEEERNEEL
which uses recovered paper that are environmental friendly. Pursuant to the FERARROER - REFEEERER (15
relevant rules and regulations of the PRC governing value added tax (“VAT"), the BRDOBBAARBRER  ZMWBAR A E
subsidiary was entitled to a VAT refund totalling HK$40,322,000 (2009: Nil) for RBEE-_T-—ZTF=A=+—HILEFEERF
the year ended 31 March 2010. $£40,322,0008 T (Z T T NF - &) 2BEH
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZE

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BAREEAR
2010 2009
—B-FF —ETNEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Interest on bank borrowings wholly RAFRBEHEERE ZRIT

repayable within five years EEF A 239,286 299,033
Interest on notes payable e RE 2 F B 12,042 51,953
Total borrowing costs IR E A 251,328 350,986

Less: amounts capitalised in property, B : W% - BEMEZEZ

plant and equipment BER{LeRE (71,709) (132,143)

179,619 218,843

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year are calculated by FRAEBRLZBERNARNUNEERE
applying a capitalisation rate of 5% (2009: 6%) to expenditures ERXZ2ERLEES%(ZEZEA
on qualifying assets. The capitalisation rate takes into account F:6%)itE -  EXNMEEXRFRA
interest rate swap to hedge the cash flow exposure on REFPRETEANEUE RS RE
variability in cash flows. BB Y F) R H o
8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 8 RFEHMAX
2010 2009
—E-EF ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Income tax recognised in profit or loss:  RIBZFENHER Z FEHR -
Current tax WEMA
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax — B EMER 7,850
— Overseas income tax — BINFTERS 47 41
Overprovision in previous year EXFBERE
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax — PR EMER (199) —
Deferred tax (note 26) EIERE (FTE26) 161,960 29,220
Total income tax recognised in profit R8BSR RIER Z A FISH
or loss 236,893 37,111
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conminueD)
PRC

The subsidiaries in the PRC are entitled to exemption from PRC
Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") for two years starting from their
respective first profit-making year, followed by a 50% relief for

the three years thereafter (“Tax Holiday").

All the Group’s PRC subsidiaries were within the tax exemption
period during both years ended 31 March 2010 and 31 March
2009 and were therefore not subject to EIT for the year, except

the following:

The tax exemption period of a subsidiary, Chongging Lee &
Man Paper Manufacturing Limited expired on 31 December
2009 and its applicable preferential tax rate is 12.5% for the
period from 1 January 2010 to 31 December 2012.

The tax exemption period of a subsidiary, Guangdong Lee &
Man Paper Manufacturing Limited (“Guangdong Lee & Man")
expired on 31 December 2008 and its applicable preferential
tax rate is 12.5% for the period from 1 January 2009 to 31
December 2011. Besides, pursuant to approvals from the PRC
tax authority, Guangdong Lee & Man was exempted from EIT
for income that resulted from the purchase of plant and
equipment manufactured in the PRC by Guangdong Lee & Man
for both years ended 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009. The
tax exemption are calculated with reference to 40% of the cost
of the qualifying plant and equipment approved by the relevant
tax authority. Guangdong Lee & Man does not have any EIT tax
payable in the current year as a result of such tax exemption.

The tax exemption period of a subsidiary, Jiangsu Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Company Limited (“Jiangsu Lee & Man")
expired on 31 December 2006 and it is subject to a reduced tax
rate of 9%, 10% and 22% for the calendar years of 2008,
2009 and 2010, respectively.

Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2009/10 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_-F—FF=H=+—HIFFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conminueD)
PRC (Continued)

The Tax Holiday of a subsidiary, Dongguan Lee & Man Paper
Factory Co Ltd ("Dongguan Lee & Man") expired on 31
December 2005 and it was subject to a preferential tax rate of
18% and 20% for the calendar years of 2008 and 2009,
respectively. Based on the Guofa [2007] No. 39 released by the
State Council of the PRC on 26 December 2007, Dongguan
Lee & Man was entitled to such preferential treatment as its
investment exceeds US$30,000,000 with a long pay-back
period. On 14 December 2009, Dongguan Lee & Man was
named as one of the 2009 Guangdong Province New and High
Technical Enterprise (BRAS#FEAI™3). According to the
PRC Law on Enterprise Income Tax promulgated on 16 March
2007, Dongguan Lee & Man is entitled to a concessionary rate
of income tax at 15% over 3 years, beginning on 1 January
2009.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law") and Implementation Regulation of
the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1
January 2008 onwards. The EIT Law and Implementation
Regulations increase the tax rate for the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries to 25% with effect from the expiry of the Tax
Holiday and in the case of Jiangsu Lee & Man and Dongguan
Lee & Man, they are on a progressive basis over a period of five

years.

Malaysia

The subsidiary in Malaysia carries on offshore trading activities
in Labuan, with other group companies which are non-
residents of Malaysia. As such, it is qualified as an offshore
trading company in Labuan and is charged at a fixed annual
rate of Malaysian RM20,000.
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86

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conminueD)
Macau

The Macau subsidiaries incorporated under Decree-Law no.
58/99/M are exempted from Macau complementary tax (Macau
income tax) as long as they comply with the relevant
regulations and do not sell their products to a Macau resident.

Viethnam

The Vietnam subsidiaries are subjected to Vietnam Corporate
Income Tax at a maximum rate of 25%. No provision for
Vietnam Corporate Income Tax has been made for the year as
the Vietnam subsidiaries incurred losses for the year.

Hong Kong

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department (“IRD"”) commenced a field audit exercise
on the Hong Kong tax affairs of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. In March 2010, the IRD issued protective profits tax
assessments of HK$156,975,000 (including assessments issued
on a duplicate basis of HK$104,650,000) relating to the year of
assessment 2003/2004, that is, for the financial year ended 31
March 2004, against certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Subsequent to the reporting period, the IRD agreed to hold
over the tax claimed completely after the Group purchased tax
reserve certificates amounting to HK$17,400,000.

The directors believe that no provision for Hong Kong Profits
Tax in respect of the above mentioned protective assessments is
necessary. In addition, as far as the Directors’ are aware, the
inquiries from the IRD are still at a fact-finding stage and the
IRD has not yet expressed any formal opinion on the potential
tax liability, if any, because the tax investigation has not
completed.

The Group’s profit is subject to taxation in the place where its
profit is generated. Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is
calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z - &

ARE B R AR M (M)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

—EEZ A —HILFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conTiNnuED) 8. REHHEXZ#E)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per FEBERTERERE 2B
the consolidated statement of comprehensive Income as KBTI EEROT -
follows:
2010 2009
=323 —ETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Profit before tax Fé F BT 22 F) 2,070,198 337,470
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 22%  HERH E22% (ZZEZT N F ¢
(2009: 20%) (note i) 20% ) st E B IE (M sTi) 455,444 67,494
Tax effect of expenses not deductible ~ A FL =X B Fi g 222
for tax purpose 25,673 53,521
Tax effect of income not taxable for B R T U A B B TS 2 2
tax purpose (14,427) (30,091)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ KIERMIFE BN KT E 59,062 95,200
Utilisation of tax loss previously B A IR R B EIE
not recognised (9,085) —
Effect of tax exemption granted to SRFIMT B A R EREET A
Macau subsidiaries 4 (84,146) (4,515)
Effect of tax exemption granted to Hab KB AR EREHTRAN
other subsidiaries -4 (108,752) (116,397)
Effect of different tax rates of ETRRZEERZEENNE
subsidiaries operating in other NEFERTRMENTE
jurisdictions 95 (4,562)
Deferred tax on PRC dividend PRI ETERMAER 2R
withholding tax Fi18 — 4,145
Other tax exemption (note ii) H 1 % 3 % (B =) (86,772) (27,684)
Overprovision in previous year EFBEREE (GEL)) —
Tax charge for the year FEBMBKRAX 236,893 37,111
notes: B 5
(i) The domestic income tax rate in the jurisdiction where a substantial (0} BEEARNEEBASDDEBKAEZ A

portion of the Group’s operation is based is used.

(ii) Tax exemption resulted from the purchase of plant and equipment
manufactured in the PRC by certain subsidiaries of the Company in the
PRC met the underlying requirements from the relevant tax authority.

FRERZEWAERE -

iy BBERRZDEAARBALAGTEZET
MBARABEETEREZHERR
BMEL WA BEMBREREBNER
23k
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=+—HILFZF

9. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 9. FEZEF
2010 2009
TE-ZF s
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Profit for the year has been arrived FERMEME
at after charging:
Directors’ emoluments (note 10) EE=Me (MsE10) 64,365 9,022
Staff salaries and other benefits, EIfehEMER -
excluding those of directors TBEIEES 351,284 360,811
Share-based payments, excluding PAPS 4 S A5t F0E
those of directors TRIEES 307 4,800
Contributions to retirement benefit R BIHER
schemes, excluding those of directors ~ FE#EE S 18,875 17,045
Total employee benefit expense B TR A48 434,831 391,678
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments & {5 T8 & 7t 18 # 4 12,862 21,590
Auditor's remuneration 1% 2 Em B 4,676 3,752
Cost of inventories recognised as FEKAERZ AT H (51)
expense (note) 8,312,782 8,606,348
Depreciation of property, plant ME BERRBITE
and equipment 484,252 405,571
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEWE  BERZE
and equipment EEmEE 5,621 8,293
Net foreign exchange loss R IINE H R E B 676 —
Operating lease rentals in respect THREFHNEEHERS
of land and buildings 3,115 6,768
note: Included in cost of sales is a write-down of inventories amounting to i HERAAUEGFEMRSE(ZZZTA
HK$Nil (2009: HK$42,000,000). 4 + 42,000,000 7T)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=+—HILFZF

EEMNE

BEXNRENGILER (=TT
NF 10T

10. DIRECTORS" EMOLUMENTS 10.

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight (2009:

ten) directors were as follows:

Other emoluments

HinEi &
Contributions
Salaries and to retirement
other benefits benefit schemes Share-based
Fees ek BIREF payments Total
we HAhEF TR BEIXARE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FHAT FAT FAT
Year ended 31March 2010 —EB-ZF=H
=t+-RZEFE
Executive directors HiTEE
Lee Wan Keung Patrick FiEog — =
Lee Man Chun Raymond T 34,033 37,405
Lee Man Bun B3¢ 22,677 24,849
Li King Wai Ross (note i) FaEE (M) — 1,359
Non-executive director FHITEE
Poon Chung Kwong BERE

Independent non-executive directors

BUFRITEE

Wong Kai Tung Tony TR 147
Peter A Davies Peter A Davies 200
Chau Shing Yim David FEER 200
56,915 64,365
Year ended 31March 2009 —ZEThF=R
=+t—AZFE

Executive directors HITEE
Lee Wan Keung Patrick E3 — — — — —
Lee Man Chun Raymond B — 3,360 12 707 4,079
Lee Man Bun 2O, — 2,160 12 440 2,612
Li King Wai Ross E g — 1,452 12 — 1,464
Non-executive director HHITEE
Poon Chung Kwong BRA — — — 538 538
Independent non-executive directors &7 FE#1TE F
Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUE 80 — — — 80
Peter A Davies Peter A Davies 139 — — — 139
Chau Shing Yim David &R 100 — — — 100
Heng Kwoo Seng (note ii) TsadE (&) 10 — — — 10
Law Kar Shui Elizabeth (note iii) 7 52 18 (P i) — — — — —

329 6,972 36 1,685 9,022
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

EEME ()

HE2-_Z—ZTF=-ZA=+—"HZMW
FR AEETEINEIAME T
E=kAFFEEMAKMALEEE
FREEBREZHE - EMFR

10. DIRECTORS" EMOLUMENTS (conTinueD) 10.

For the two years ended 31 March 2010, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of office.

None of the directors has waived any emoluments during the

two years. BEMNESERENS -

notes: B 3E

(i) MrLiKing Wai Ross resigned on 22 January 2010. (i) FTREBEEERZ-_ZE-—FTF-—A=+
ZHEHE -

(i) Mr Heng Kwoo Seng resigned on 30 April 2008. (ii) M FEREER T NEFHA=+
HEHE -

(i) Ms Law Kar Shui Elizabeth resigned on 1 January 2009. iy HEEBNEER-_ZEZTAF-—HA—H
BHT -

11. EMPLOYEES" EMOLUMENTS 1. EEM=2

rEEREMezAUAL HEf
“R(ZETNAF: =) RAEAR
RAEEMEMS DN Ll M E 105
BHBMUAL(ZZEZEAF MW
) zMEmT :

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2009: three) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are disclosed in note 10 above. The
emoluments of the remaining two (2009: two) individuals were

as follows:

2010 2009
- R —TTNF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Salaries and other benefits HFe hHMEF 3,202 4,120
Contributions to retirement RKAE ) FT B4 3R

benefit schemes 24 24
4,144

The emoluments were within the following bands: EFMMe T FTAER
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 7T — 1,500,000 7T —
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7% T — 2,000,000/ JT 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7 7Tt — 2,500,000 7T —
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7 T — 3,000,000 7T 1
2
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_-—F—FF=H=+—HIFFE

12. DIVIDENDS 12. BRE
2010 2009
TE-ZF s
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Dividends recognised as distribution:  RA] 2R E S BT -
2009 final dividend of HK$Nil ZEENFERERGRE
(2009: 2008 final dividend of (ZZEZNF: ZTT)N\F
HK$0.10) per share FEARY B H%0.10/5 7T ) 113,738
2010 interim dividend of HK$0.22 T -TFEREPEHRE
(2009: 2009 interim dividend of FRO22BIL(ZEZTNF
HK$0.05) per share ZEZENFHHRE
FP%0.05%87T) 250,224 56,869
250,224 170,607
A final dividend of HK$0.08 per share in respect of the year EFERBRENEBEEZE-_E—ZF=H
ended 31 March 2010 (2009: final dividend of HK$Nil in =t —HIFERHKREFKR008
respect of the year ended 31 March 2009) has been proposed BL(ZEENF  HEZZTZTNF
by the directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders IFFEETERERBRE) - EAF
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. BRRERERREASEL I ERT
A{EE °
If the dividend were adjusted for the effect of the share R 28 FT &+ fiw B AER B
subdivision as set out in note 28, the interim dividend per share RO HFOLE A 2T -5
would be HK$0.055 and HK$0.0125 for 2010 and 2009, FR-_ZEZENF2HHREDHR
respectively, and the final dividend per share would be HK$Nil FR%0.055% 7T 2001258 7L - k=
and HK$0.025 for 2009 and 2008, respectively. ZENFABARERER-ZFEN

F2REARE ASFRR0.0258TT -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_-—F—FF=H=+—HIFFE

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BRER
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share FRARARGZHEANTRERR
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the BEERNTIATIBBRRERSE

following data:

2010 2009
—z-z5 LTV
HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tt

Earnings for the purpose of basic AUETESRERZ A ZF
and diluted earnings per share 1,833,305 302,117

2010 2009
—E-ZF ZTTNF
Number of Number of
Shares Shares
ignig = B #E
Weighted average number of ARG EERERRFH
ordinary shares for the purpose of L5 A N RE &L
basic earnings per share 4,549,682,963 4,549,521,648
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary TR EESETE
shares:
Share options 1 i 1 99,136,844 —
Weighted average number of AUETESREERTN
ordinary shares for the purpose of 38 A 0 RE S 15 8
diluted earnings per share 4,648,819,807 4,549,521,648
The weighted average number of ordinary shares of both years REWF28FTHE - 5T EEREARR
for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings per share has BERAN TR IMETHEEE
been adjusted to reflect the effect of share subdivision as set AR UARMBRODIFHZE -
out in note 28.
The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year HEZZEZNF=ZA=1+—HLHF
ended 31 March 2009 did not assume the exercise of the EzEBRESRAFENEMEE
Group’s outstanding share options as the exercise prices of WARITEE 2 BB AR g 1T (L
those options are higher than the average market price. RZBEREZITEELLTS THAE

AR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=+—HILFZF

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

14. Y% BERRKE

Furniture
fixtures and  Leasehold
Freehold equipment improve- Plant and
Land Computer B ments Motor  machinery ~ Construction
HAA%%E  Buidings System EBE£E HEWE  vehids HER in progress Total
BRzii BF EBREZE& &L %1 AE Be EEIR @t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET FET T T T FiE FiEL T FiEr
CosT BA
At 1 April 2008 “ZT\FMA-A 10,309 1,489,835 18,938 63,605 329,103 39,573 6,772,137 2,100,249 10,823,749
Exchange realignment  [E X EF4AA — 828835 — 3,158 18,413 1,774 380,170 101,864 588,264
Additions RE — 124,798 3,040 73,417 8,547 3,267 332,2% 1913479 2,458,842
Transfers a3 — 645291 - 14,451 34,763 — 1733111 (2,427,616) -
Disposals/written off HE /iR — - - (251) — (297)  (154,625) (7,906)  (163,079)
Disposal of subsidiaries & B A (10,309 (18,667) — (2,489) (6,114) (1,241)  (102,684) (95,607)  (237,111)
At 31 March 2009 —ETNFE=A=1+-H — 2324142 21,978 151,891 384,712 43,076 8,960,403 1,584,463 13,470,665
Exchange realignment [ EFHAA — — — (5 — (14) (172) (31,584) (31,775)
Additions RE — 115,485 1,094 4,408 3,662 2,969 69,900 503,287 700,805
Transfers gz — 233492 — 176,149 17,577 747 688,778 (1,116,743) —
Disposalsiwritten off HE /M - (396) — (45) - (589) (7,575 — (8,605)
At 31 March 2010 ZZ-ZF=A=1-H — 2,672,723 23,072 332,398 405,951 46,189 9,711,334 939,423 14,131,090
DEPRECIATION wE
At 1 April 2008 “ZT\ERA-H — 182,699 3,094 24,473 34,386 18,862 554,771 — 818,285
Exchange realignment  [E X EF4A — 11428 — 1,284 2,079 847 34,018 — 49,656
Provided for the year FEREE — 86,945 2,129 18,189 20,925 6,336 271,047 — 405,571
Eliminated on disposals  Hi & & ¥ 8 — — — (172) — (267) (169) — (608)
Eliminated on disposal 1% [ B 72 716 45 84
of subsidiaries — (1,422) — (1,691) (987) (425)  (20,584) — (25,109)
At 31 March 2009 —ETNE=A=1+-H — 279,650 5,223 42,083 56,403 25353 839,083 — 1,247,795
Exchange realignment  [E$ EFAA - — — — - - (10) — (10)
Provided for the year FERNEGE - 113,236 2,279 32,042 19,919 5,026 311,750 - 484,252
Eliminated on disposals & 5 % 4 — — — 31 — (113) (2,249) — (2,393)
At 31 March 2010 —E-ZF=A=1+-H — 392,886 7,502 74,094 76,322 30,266 1,148,574 — 1,729,644
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2010 —Z-ZF=A=1+-H — 2279837 15,570 258,304 329,629 15,923 8,562,760 939,423 12,401,446
At 31 March 2009 “ZTAF=A=+-H — 2,044,492 16,755 109,808 328,309 17,723 8,121,320 1,584,463 12,222,870
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continuep) 14

94

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant
and equipment other than freehold land and construction in
progress over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account their estimated residual value, using the straight-line
method, at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 5%
Computer System 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Leasehold improvements 5%-15%
Motor vehicles 20%
Plant and machinery 3'5%-20%

Freehold land is not depreciated.

The carrying values of land and buildings of the Group
comprises:

M- BERRE (&)

BRokAZXEL R AERZTREIN
ME - BEMREBRBEANKEER
& RIE A AFMAERATIR
PrEAMEEMA - FRAT -

gF 5%
B 10%
R BEREREH 20%
HEMEEE 5%-15%
B 20%
= N i g 3'5%-20%

K AERITE 2 T TERE -

AEEz D MEEYERERS

2010 2009
S5 il oF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT

Buildings on lands under medium-term MBI A —IBHRHHEEME L
lease in the PRC T T

2,279,837 2,044,492

Certain buildings of the Group are erected on lands in the PRC
with respect to which the Group has not been granted formal
title of ownership. At 31 March 2010, the carrying value of
such buildings amounted to HK$1,185,580,000(2009:
HK$1,181,583,000). In the opinion of directors, the absence of
formal title to these buildings does not impair the value of the
relevant buildings of the Group as the Group has paid
substantially the full purchase consideration of these land rights
and the probability of being evicted on the ground of an
absence of formal title is remote. The directors also believe that
formal title of these buildings will be granted to the Group in
due course.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

15. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 15. RNHEERIRE

The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise leasehold lands
held under medium-term leases located in:

AEERNEEFRRBEFHEY

PRC ==
Vietnam g

Analysed for reporting purposes as: MERBRMEZDMN
Non-current asset EMBEE
Current asset mENE E

Tz mMEER
2010 2009
S5 il oF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
344,007 311,984
37,489 38,547
381,496 350,531
2010 2009
S5 il oF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
373,826 336,513
7,670 14,018
381,496 350,531

As at 31 March 2010, the carrying value of land use rights in
respect of which the Group had not been granted formal title
of ownership amounted to HK$46,088,000 (2009:
HK$171,522,000). In the opinion of the directors, the absence
of formal title to these land use rights does not impair the value
of the relevant properties to the Group as the Group has paid
substantially the full purchase consideration of these land rights
and the probability of being evicted on the ground of an
absence of formal title is remote. The directors also believe that
formal title to these land use rights will be granted to the
Group in due course.

R_E—ZTF=ZA=+—H £H
WRBETEAHBE 2 THERAE
2 BRTE (B /546,0880008 T (- T
NLF 1 171,522,0008 L) - EERAE
Bz R+ RAEEEREL
TeEEEEHEYXEE BA
AEBDINHRBHEEZ
ZRERUXRBREREER BB
WE i e M TER - &
ENHEETABRREEBSR T
SrFHBEAEERE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

16. DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF 16. BEWX BERRERT
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND EEAEMNE €
LAND USE RIGHTS
The deposits were paid by the Group in connection with the Il e AEBRTHEERE
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use MEENYE BEREKBER T
rights for new production facilities. The related commitments TREN® BEVE BEXR
for acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use AR THMERAENEERES
rights are disclosed in note 35. BUPABT FE35 & -
17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 17. REtERNAl 2R
2010 2009
L _TEAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET
Cost of unlisted investment JEFHREKAK 1 1
Share of post-acquisition results and RIS 2B R H MMk
other comprehensive income (1) (1)
Details of the Group’s associates at 31 March 2010 and 31 n= —t+t—RAEK=ZE
March 2009 are as follows: =N AAREEEE A
ElE
Effective

interest in the
issued share

Place of Issued and capital held
Form of Incorporation fully paid indirectly
Name of business and operations share capital BiEEE
associate structure RIK BERTR 2 #{TRZA  Principal Activity
BE AR ERB EBEBEN EEMH BRBA BRAE TZEH
Fortune Sight Group  Incorporated British Virgin Ordinary shares  19% (note #) Investment holding in
Limited (“FSGL")  FK3Z Islands — US$1,000 a PRC subsidiary engaging
EERAHE TEk in the business of forestry
— 1,000% 7T resources
FEME QR RE
ERAR FEHRE
MAREIRER

note:

has the power to appoint one out of the three directors of that company.

The Group is able to exercise significant influence over FSGL because it

AEBEFSGLEREFEN  EAKRE
BERZEIZAR=ZNESEHHN L
R

it
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=+—HILFZF

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continueD) 17. REFER R 2R (#)

The summarised consolidated financial information of FSGL is FSGLMER A BER BTN T -

set out below:

2010 2009

—E -5 ks

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FHET

Total assets HmEE 409,761 812,708
Total liabilities waf (499,013) (857,307)
Net liabilities FEaE (89,252) (44,599)

The Group’s share of net liabilities of 7S£ [8] B {5 FSGLIE & &

FSGL _
Revenue PN -
Losses for the year FNEE (45,480) (44,084)
Other comprehensive income Hih 2wk 16,380
The Group’s share of losses and NEFAREBEEIGFSGLEE &

other comprehensive income of Hitt2mE W

FSGL for the year —
The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of losses in AR AN & B AFSGLA) 25T E 1L B 18
FSGL because its cumulative share of losses in FSGL has EHBEBEREREN  HAEEDK
exceeded its investment cost. The Group will not resume IFEREE(RFSGLEE - A5 E
recognition of its share of any future profits in FSGL until its T & B 17 1 R E FE 15 #FSGLIE fa] B
share of such profits equals the share of losses not recognised. BRF BEEEREBLZZERNE

EFRHRERNEBEBE/L -
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17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continueD)

The amounts of unrecognised share of losses in FSGL, extracted

from the relevant unaudited management accounts of FSGL,

both for the year and cumulatively from the date that FSGL

became an associate of the Group, are as follows:

17. B

i R R Y G FSGLE B 518 58 (48
BB MEBAFSGLARCEZEREERE -
B AN EE N BFSGLAK A& 7N & 5] B
ENTHHRTREE) AT

BE DT 2B (#)

2010 2009
TE-ZF s
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FHET

Unrecognised share of losses of N E R FER AL
FSGL for the year FSGLE 18 (8,641) (8,376)

Accumulated unrecognised share of RET MR EREMN
losses of FSGL FSGLIE 18 (10,246)
18. INVENTORIES 18. 78

2010 2009
=L T NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Raw materials FR 1,752,994 1,156,853
Finished goods BURK G 450,864 479,065
2,203,858 1,635,918

98 Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2009/10 Annual Report




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

FEUR & 5 B H i 8k K

2010 2009
—z-zx Ry
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T

1,812,394 1,080,864
511,465 306,648

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19.
Trade receivables FEUNE 5 IR
Bills receivables FEURE K
Prepayments for purchase of BB RETEN KB
raw materials
Other deposits and prepayments Hibrl & MIENHIE
Deferred consideration receivables Bl EHEWNBRARRELRE

for disposal of subsidiaries
Expenses paid on behalf of suppliers REEFBEZHFX

VAT receivables JE U 12 (B T SR8
Other receivables H b E W FRTIB

2,323,859 1,387,512

335,517 131,894
251,288 153,178

58,139 118,135
166,563 147,433
66,208 34,202
116,205 174,525

3,317,779 2,146,879

The Group generally allows its customers an average credit
period of 60 to 90 days. The following is an aged analysis of
trade and bills receivables presented based on the invoice date
at the end of the reporting period.

AEB—RETEFHEHEED
A60HZE90H o T & AIRIEH % A
REZHH I EREZIERRER
B BR R D AT ©

2010 2009
SEil ==~
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin T

Aged: BRER -
Less than 30 days D H30H
31-60 days 31H-60H
61-90 days 61H-90H
91-120 days 91H-120H
Over 120 days 1208 LA £

1,661,081 990,808
379,278 316,046
261,922 54,140

11,192 13,779
10,386 12,739

2,323,859 1,387,512
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PR Rk MY RE (4)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continueD) 19. BWESZREMIR (&)
Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the AEBEBREMNEMRHIZFA - 5T
potential customer’s credit quality and defines its credit limits. HREEEFPHNEEEERATH
Credit sales are made to customers with a satisfactory EERE -EEHERSHKTREE
trustworthy credit history. Credit limits attributed to customers RHERIFNERF BEFPEERET
are reviewed regularly. The directors considered all trade TR c EAEE® AT G
receivables at the reporting date are of good credit quality with T RBREZEEPHNAEELE =&
reference to the track records of these customers under internal ERRUEMERHEERKESE
assessment by the Group. FYAEBRIFEEEE -

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balances are debtors AEERKESERERTEEE
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$21,631,000 (2009: BR ™ {E A21,631,0008 ( —ZFZF
HK$26,518,000) which were past due at the end of the JUE : 26,518,000 7T ) BV FE W & 5
reporting period but for which the Group has not provided for RN 2ERERBREHREER
impairment loss as the Group considered such balances could B EAEERRBRBEILR
be recovered based on historical experience. The Group does ZEERER TLAE - A
not hold any collateral over these balances. The Group takes REREBEREE AEELEMZL
into consideration the estimated cash flows when determining EEBRTECMERR - AEER
evidence of impairment loss. EEREBERERCF MR
LME o
Ageing of trade receivables which are past due BHEEARENERE SRR
but not impaired H B e

2010 2009

—z-z5 JEEESE

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FTEx FH T

61-90 days 61H-90H 53 —

91-120 days 91H-120H 11,192 13,779

Over 120 days 1208 £ 10,386 12,739

21,631 26,518
No allowance for doubtful receivables has been recognised for EMEVYEERTMEKZTER
both years as the directors considered these trade receivables BRER ZERNESRAAEEBREAK
balances could be recovered based on historical experience. B ZEREINE HERGEST T

@
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

19.

20.

21.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conminueD) 19. BWESZREMIR (&)
Trade and other receivables that are denominated in currencies WHNEHRERERBIGEEKHE
other than the functional currency of the relevant group entitles WEKE S REMBRRAT :
are set out below:
2010 2009
TE-ZF s
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
HK$ BT 305,635 973,210
United States dollars ("US$") 2 JT("US$") 157,849 166,298
Euro ("EUR") & 7T (“"EUR") 1,502 49
Japanese Yen (“JPY") H 7T ("JPY”) 169 —
Renminbi (“RMB") A E#("RMB") — 150
AMOUNTS DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE 20. EWEEE ARIRIE
The amounts represent non-trade balances due from FSGL and Z AR EURFSGLE E M B A B &Y
its subsidiary. The amounts are unsecured, repayable on B ZRNEREER A
demand and bear interest at 3.22% (2009: 6.50%) per annum. JEERKEENMEZFNEINE(ZF
In the opinion of the directors, the amounts are expected to be ENF 650E)HE -EEFRA
repaid within one year from the end of the reporting period as FAB E39 R % BR 2 FRIE TE AT AT R 3R
disclosed in note 39. HFHRE-FREE -
AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES 21. FEWWERBEE X S FKIE

The amounts represent trade balances due from Jiangsu Lee &
Man Chemical Limited (“Jiangsu Chemical”) and Lee & Man
Industrial Manufacturing Limited (“Lee & Man Industrial
Manufacturing”) which are beneficially owned by Mr Lee Wan
Keung Patrick, a director and the ultimated controlling party of
the Company and his daughter, respectively.

The amounts are unsecured and interest-free. The Group
generally allows related companies an average credit period of
30 days and the amounts for both years were aged less than
30 days. As at the end of the reporting period, the balances
were neither impaired nor past due.

EARBRIHEXILIBERAF
([T &1t T 1) K Lee & Man Industrial
Manufacturing Limited ([ 32 XX & % |)
MESEH MEARNEREA
AP RIEERRNRES REEIESH
TEREERRELR -

REAREBERALENS - AEE—
MRia THEEQFBOBEEH &K
HEEMFENREDN30A - R
ETHIR - A ERESAa -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_-—F—FF=H=+—HIFFE

22. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK

BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three

months or less.

The restricted bank deposits of HK$1,908,000 (2009:
HK$1,908,000) represent monies secured by the PRC
government for certain commercial purposes of which the
security period will expire within one year from the end of the

reporting period and are therefore classified as current assets.

The restricted bank deposits carried market interest rate of
0.36% (2009: 0.36%) per annum. Bank balances carried
market interest rates ranging from 0.34% to 2.20% (2009:
0.36% to 2.20%) per annum.

Bank balances that are denominated in currencies other than

the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set

22. BERFBIBITERRBITEESR

SE2N

RITEBREBRCERAEEFTED
BekRIHAR=EAH AR
RHRITER -

7 #1,908000 8 T (Z T NF :
1,908,000 % 7T, ) 2 A R %l R 17 17 &
ERETEHEENMIN FHEIK
T FRAERITEOMRIE &
REHBEERSHRET —FAE
W MZEREESERARBEE -

ERGBIVITERTEMSFEX
036%( ZZFZF N % :036%)° M
WITHBRTAMISFE EH034%
2220%( Z T T N F :036%%
220%) °

WAL EEE R A
BRTEBBIIMT

out below:
2010 2009
g L —TEAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
HK$ BT 203,259 5,637
us$ ETT 21,426 154,482
Great British Pound (“GBP") g 15,242 64,306
EUR BT 447 49,001
RMB AR 59 26
JPY Bt 15 13
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ARE B R AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=+—HILFZF

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. BVE S REMIRRK

2010 2009
= —TTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Current Dk

Trade and bills payables ERESERFEER 1,094,287 338,221
Accruals EstE A 224,408 147,927
Other payables {8 1 2008 636,136 362,785
1,954,831 848,933

Non-current IETRE
Other payables H fth & A FRIE 364,042

The average credit period taken for trade purchases ranges

from 30 to 60 days. The following is an aged analysis of the

trade and bills payables presented based on the invoice date at

the end of the reporting period.

BHBE 2 VFHRKRYMA30E60A
TE TRRARBEHRREZAH
ZRENEARERZ RGO -

2010 2009
bRl —TTNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FAT

Aged: BREC :
Less than 30 days DH30H 639,232 232,636
31-60 days 31H-60H 220,105 44,888
61-90 days 61H-90H 158,494 15,041
Over 90 days 90H M £ 76,456 45,656
1,094,287 338,221
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (conTivuED) 23. ENEZRAEMEER &)
During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group agreed with REZE-ZFEZTAF=A=1+—H
certain independent constructors to extend the repayment date ILEE  AEBEETETRER
of the construction payables to two years from the original due BMEKENEERBZ2EERS
date. The amount was recognised at fair value of ERZRINEAABREME - B
HK$364,042,000 at the date of the settlement deed, CHENBEZERRZAFE
determined using cash flows discounted at an effective interest 364,042,000 8 TR AR Z &
rate of 3.9% per annum. The difference of HK$28,721,000 BIODUERFEBEXR3I39E IR €7
between the carrying value and the fair value of the BET EBNEEXRBEREERE
construction payables as at date of settlement deed was A zZEEEREAFTERZEZRHE
adjusted to the costs capitialised in construction in progress. As 28,721,000 ST 2 FE K AN E AL B
31 March 2009, such construction payables were classified as BEIRAAE RZZEZENF=A
non-current other payables in the consolidated financial =+—HB ZENEERERGS
statements. BY 5 R 2k o M m 3E I Eh E M FE 1P R

18
Trade and other payables that are denominated in currencies BREEAREE 2R BEEIN - A&
other than the functional currency of the relevant group entities BEzENEBSREMBFOT :
are set out below:
2010 2009
- W TS AF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
us$ e 775,449 143,516
HK$ BT 36,924 11,456
EUR LT 6,858 30,121
JPY = 443 4,137
RMB AR — 923
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ARE B R AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=+—HILFZF

24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 24, RITRHMEE
The Group’s bank and other borrowings, all of which are AEEZERBRTIEMEER
unsecured, are comprised of: EEaE

2010 2009

TE-ZF s

HK$’'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Bank loans RITER 7,063,065 7,671,102

Bank import loans IRITEOER 9,634 93,798

7,072,699 7,764,900

Notes payable EEE — 776,800

7,072,699 8,541,700

The bank and other borrowings are HITREMEERNERHANT :
repayable as follows:

Within one year or on demand —FANNEEREE 2,473,383 4,738,379
More than one year, but not BiE—FE DR E
exceeding two years 2,866,523 1,184,152
More than two years, but not HBAMFELDRAF
exceeding five years 1,732,793 1,842,369
More than five years HBilmhF — 776,800
7,072,699 8,541,700
Less: Amount due within one year B AR ARBDEEN
shown under current liabilities —FRNEHRIE PR YEREEIN  (4,738,379)
Amount due after one year — IR F| KA 4,599,316 3,803,321
The Group’s bank and other borrowings include AEEBRTREMEESRE
HK$442,898,000 (2009: HK$1,528,168,000) fixed-rate 442,898,000 /8 T( — E T N F :
borrowings which carried interest at rates ranging from 1.36% 1,528,168,000 /& 7T ) F B £1.36% =
to 4.86% (2009: 2.98% to 6.81%) per annum and 486%2 E BfERB(ZTFTNF -
HK$6,629,801,000 (2009: HK$7,013,532,000) variable-rate 2.98% %6.81%) }.6,629,801,000 /& 7T
borrowings which carry interest at rates ranging from HIBOR —ZFEJLF 7013532000 7T )
plus 0.405% to HIBOR plus 3.00% (2009: ranging from HIBOR ZTERER  FREAFBR]
plus 0.405% to HIBOR plus 3.50%) per annum. 7] 3 47 . I00.405% 223.00% T 55 -

—ETNF  BARITRAZEREN
0.405% E3.50% %) »
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z - &

B3 R AR MY RE (4R)
— A=t AUEE

24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continueD)

On 15 January 2008, the Company entered into an agreement
with independent third parties, pursuant to which, the
Company agreed to issue notes with an aggregate principal
amount of US$100,000,000 (equivalent to HK$776,800,000)
to these independent third parties. The notes comprised two
series, series A and series B, with an aggregate principal
amount of US$35,000,000 (equivalent to HK$271,880,000)
and US$65,000,000 (equivalent to HK$504,920,000),
respectively. Series A notes carried interest at a fixed-rate of
6.43% per annum and would mature on 15 January 2015,
whereas series B notes carry interest at a fixed rate of 6.81%
per annum and would mature on 15 January 2018. All notes
were early repaid during the year ended 31 March 2010.

The weighted average effective interest rates on the Group’s

bank and other borrowings are as follows:

24.

RITREMEER &)
=

RZFEENF—A+HH &R
AEBYE-FIVUEEBEBES

Be B ARARRAERTAS
#2 %8 73100,000,000 = jt (A & ©
776,800,000 7T ) M EE T B £
=FH - BEPEWME - A MBS
SEHARE 5 R &858 /535,000,000
Z oo (#8 & 7271,880,000 % JT ) &
65000000%%5%(*E%*E@504920000
BIL) c ABHERBRIRE F F £643%
#%'%%:?—Eﬁ—ﬁ+£5
FH - BEERIBIR S F E B681%:T
B #BR - NF—A+HAEF
HeFMEZBEEREBEE_T—ZF
ZA=+—HBLEFEARTEE -

AEBERTREMGEBEEZEERENEX
MAEFHET

Fixed-rate borrowings FEEEE
Variable-rate borrowings FEEE

The Group’s bank and other borrowings that are denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant

group entities are set out below:

HK$
us$

2009
—EENF
6.01%
2.61%
BRAEBASE ZNEEEIN  KNE
ERTREMEESERENT ¢
2010 2009
—E-ZF ek
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHE T FAT
1,880,000 1,766,172
276,386 821,576
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z - &

—EEZ A —HILFE

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

. PTEMBTA

Non-current

E

FRE

2010 2009 2010 2009

—z-z5 RIS -2+ [EEEIK:
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHR TR TR

Derivative financial liabilities $74 & & 1&

— net settlement —FBERW
Derivatives under hedge ¥ HEHEAERZ
accounting IR

Interest rate swaps (note i)
Cross currency interest
rate swaps (note ii)

=4 5 (B aE)
RRX G == 1
(B &)

(21,910)

(95,318) (78,807)
— (934)

(PARM[0)] (122,977)

(95,318) (79,741)

Other derivatives HihfT£ IR
(not under hedge (36 3F &
accounting) i EAR)
Interest rate swaps (note iii) 71| 2 4= 5 (P i) (21,975) (17,764) (16,370)
Foreign currency forward ~— 9MEE 3R BR A 47
contracts (note iv) (M 5Eiv) (3.543) (349)
(25,518) (18,113)
(120,836) (97,854) (21,910) (139,347)
Derivative financial assets ~ $T4 Bt & E
— net settlement — FERIW
Other derivatives H#fiETA
(not under hedge (3 IF 4R 5 ¥
accounting) i EAR)
Interest rate swaps (note iii) 7 2= 4= 45 (B £Xiii )
Foreign currency forward NS 3R BR A 4)
contracts (note iv) (P 5Eiv)
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A mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZE

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminvuen)

The fair values of the above derivative financial instruments are

calculated using discounted cash flow analysis based on the

applicable yield curves of interest rates and volatility of foreign

exchange rates as determined by the counterparties.

notes:

Interest rate swaps

The Group uses interest rate swaps to minimise its exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk of its variable-rate HK$ bank borrowings (see note 24) by
swapping a proportion of the variable-rate bank borrowings from variable
interest rates to fixed interest rates of 4.75% and 5.00%, and interest
rate floored at 4.65% and capped at 5.50%. The interest rate swaps and
the corresponding bank borrowings have substantially the same terms
and the directors of the Company consider that the interest rate swaps
are highly effective hedging instruments. Major terms of the interest rate
swaps for the years ended 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009 are set out
below:

Notional amount

Lt

25.

TTEMB TR (#)

FRTEMBTARAZ R FETLRE
HFHTHBHRBER 2 F K RINE
MBEXRZERERE - RFTHER
EREDT/EESE -

CEX
0

Interest rate swap

Fl=EH

Fl %= 5 5
AEERAF RS BBELDF
BRITEERZEANRBEXE T F
AT75% K%5.00% K F &R R ET R
465%iMm £ MR AT A5.50% @ # It & 2R
KZEBERITERMAEZR SR
EMEARK(RME24) FIREHR
R ZIRTEE RSN EF BRI -
EERATEREHIESHRZ LR
TA -BE-ZT—ZTF=A=+—A1t
FER-_ZETAF=ZA=Z+—LEFE
MR E BERETN DT ¢

2 contracts with HK$1,000,000,000 in total
2134 #94£1,000,000,0007% 7T

1 contract with HK$1,000,000,000
117 & #71,000,000,0007%8 7T

The above contracts will mature within three years (2009: four years) from
the end of the reporting period.

During the year, gains from fair value changes of HK$36,547,000 (2009:
losses of HK$21,357,000) were recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity and are expected to be released to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income at various dates in line
with the interest and principal payments schedule of the corresponding
bank borrowings in the coming three years (2009: four years). The gains
from fair value changes of HK$2,517,000 (2009: HK$5,957,000) were
recognised in the profit or loss as they represented the ineffective portion
of the gains on the hedging instruments.

From HIBOR to fixed rates of 4.75% and 5.00%
mEBRITREREREE 54.75% 5%5.00%

From HIBOR to rate floored at 4.65% and capped at 5.50%
HEBRITRAZFEREEREL65%ZE LIR550%

ERaOKRBRERRE=FR(=F
TAF  ME)BH -

FRA BAFEEHELEZHB =
365470008 T (Z T TN F: BB
21,357,000 7T ) B 7 H 4h 2 H W 5
RRNER T RTEIE - FHHERA
R=ZF(ZZTTAF:  OF)REHERE
BTEEZHERASIMHBARTR
BfERGeEKER BATEZEE
£/ 252,517,0008 L (Z T NF -
5,957,000 7T ) B R B R PR -
ZEBZMEERYFRIABRZBHE

D -
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RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZE

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmvuep)  25. T4 T H (4#)
notes: (Continued) Mo« (48)
(i)  Cross currency interest rate swaps (i) XXREBF=EEH
At 31 March 2009, the Group had the following cross currency interest R-BFAF=A=+—H AEEH
rate swaps designated as highly effective hedging instruments in order to ETIHEERASRHEPIAZRZX
manage the Group’s foreign currency exposure in relation to the foreign EBRNEREHUEEAEmMEHATE
currency coupon and principal payments of its fixed-rate US$ notes NEREENEZBNELTREZAX
payable (see note 24). The terms of the cross currency interest rate swaps Xz INERBE (RME24) « 22X
were negotiated to match the terms of the corresponding notes payable. EBANEB B FHATHER - UEE
Major terms of these contracts for the years ended 31 March 2009 are as HERNEREZFH BHE_ZTTNF
follows: AT HEFEZSEAHZEE
AT
Notional amount Currency swap Interest rate swap
HeeE EHEES R R
2 contracts with US$100,000,000 in total 2 contracts with HK$776,800,000 in total From range of 6.43% t0 6.81% to
213 & #9#£100,000,0003 7T 217 & #93£776,800,0007% 7T range of 6.41% 10 6.64%
H643%%681%EEANE
6.41% % 6.64% i B N
At 31 March 2009, gains from fair value changes of HK$16,563,000 were RIBZNAF=A=+—8 HAFE
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. BEEAL 2 152516,563,0008 LB A H
b2 E RS NHER RN ERR R R
3 o
The above contracts were early settled after the repayment of fixed-rate RBE_ZT-—ZTF=A=+—HIF
US$ notes payable during the year ended 31 March 2010. At the date of E - FRERHNEREBEEEETLRER
early settlement, the cumulative fair value loss of HK$37,342,000 was NREEREETF - RNIEREFESH
released from hedging reserve and recognised in profit or loss in current K5t A FEE 837,342,000/ 0 E B ¥
year. The gain from fair value changes of HK$24,920,000 (2009: HREER YR AFERRZANER
HK$3,868,000) were recognised in profit or loss on the hedging N EE ) E A E9 15 5524,920,000 8 7T
instruments. (ZZT T hF 38680005 7T) BER1E
w2 ER T ENTER
(iii)  Interest rate swaps (i) FREH
Major terms of the interest rate swaps as at 31 March 2010 are as R-E-—TE=ZA=+—BFREY
follows: ZEBEFEINMT

Notional amount

BeER MEREH

Interest rate swap

1 contract with HK$500,000,000
115 4 #7500,000,0007 T

Major terms of these contracts as at 31 March 2009 were as follows:

Notional amount

k] RS

Interest rate swap

From range of HIBOR to 4.80%
mEBRTTRER R E480%

R-BBAF=A=+—AREEH
2 EEEREIINT

2 contracts with HK$700,000,000 in total
213 & #93£700,000,0007% 7T

VARSI

From range of HIBOR to HIBOR plus 1.00% to range of 4.80% to
HIBOR (maximum at 7.00%)

HEBRITREFREEEEBRITAERSM00%NEENEE
480% EHBRITRERE (&= A7.00%) #E R

The above contracts will mature within one year (2009: one to two years)
from the end of the reporting period.

FREHNERRERARE—F(ZTT
NE: —Z=F)NFHE o
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RE B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #HZE_—F—FTF=HA=+—HI-FZF

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuen)

notes: (Continued)

(iv)  Foreign currency forward contracts
Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts as at 31 March
2010 are as follows:

25.

Notional amount

WasE BEEn

TTEMB TR (#)

MsE
(iv)

(%)

SEEREH
RZE-—ZF=R=+—HHNEEH
BRHZEBEFEIDOT

Currency conversion

3 contracts to buy GBP6,400,000 in total
315 & %9+ E 6,400,000 &

2 contracts to buy EUR7,501,584 in total
219 & 43 B 7,501,584 B 7T

Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts as at 31 March
2009 were as follows:

Notional amount

HMetH BEwEn

GBP1: US$1.4850 to 1.5196
1585 5,1.4850% 151963 7T

EUR1: US$1.3750 to 1.4477
1ERJT 5, 1.3750 % 1.4477 % 7T

—EENF=ZA=+—BIEED
M2z EBEFEINOT

oy %

Currency conversion

9 contracts to buy US$37,000,000 in total
91n & #) £ 5 37,000,000% 7T

3 contract to buy EUR10,000,000 in total
315 & #9345 E 10,000,000 7T

The above contracts will mature within one to five months (2009: one to
two months) from the end of reporting period.

Derivative financial instruments that are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out
below:

US$1: HK$7.6980 to 7.7486
1367 5,7.6980 % 7.7486 %8 7T

EUR1: US$1.2578 to 1.3350
1BRJT 5,1.2578 & 133503 7T

e BaRESHRE—EAEZERE
R(ZZEZNAF: —E-@A) AR -

= g TH 4k 15

NEEEEERBDEREUINTE T
BEZUTEMBTARINNT

2010 2009
—z-z¢ [EEETE
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Derivative financial assets TTEMBEE
GBP 4 _
EUR BT 3,081
us$ E 1,700
Derivative financial liabilities MTEMBAaRE
EUR & T 349
GBP B _
us$ EIT 46,426
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B B R R MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—ZF—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

26. DEFERRED TAX 26. EIERKIE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets TRAFTEETEHIEABEREER
recognised and movement thereon during the current and prior REATERTRATREHRNZE
reporting periods. & o

Undistributed

Earnings

Accelerated of PRC

tax subsidiaries
depreciation HEIKiE X 7 Tax losses Total
ERHRERE RoEZFBE BHESE #at

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TET FTET TFER
At 1 April 2008 —ZEENFWA—H 108,470 — (29,796) 78,674
Exchange realignment ERENAES 7,524 — — 7,524
Disposal of a subsidiary & —fE & 2 A — — 42,161 42,161
Charge (credit) to profit ~ FRRIBEEING (GTA)
or loss 92,440 4,145 (67,365) 29,220
At 31 March 2009 —ETAF=ZA=1+—H 208,434 4,145 (55,000) 157,579
Charge to profit or loss FAREREMR 106,960 — 55,000 161,960
At 31 March 2010 —E-TZF=-A=1+—H 315,394 4,145 — 319,539
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement RAEEEUBMRAKRE®REN
of financial position, certain deferred tax liabilities and assets ETEEREEEREECEKH -
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred TRAEBEMNBRER N 2ELER
tax balances for financial reporting purposes: TE KSR AT

2010 2009

—z-z5 [QEEEPE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Deferred tax liabilities EER IR EE 319,539 212,579
Deferred tax assets RERIAE E — (55,000)

319,539 157,579
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z - &

26.

112

B3 AR MY R (4R)
— A=t AUEE

DEFERRED TAX (conTINUED)

At 31 March 2010, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately HK$560,000,000 (2009: HK$594,000,000)
available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of approximately HK$Nil (2009:
HK$261,000,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised for the remaining losses of approximately
HK$560,000,000 (2009: HK$333,000,000) due to
unpredictability of future profit streams. During the year ended
31 March 2009, included in the above unused tax losses, an
amount of HK$141,000,000 was reversed upon disposal of
subsidiaries. At 31 March 2010, tax losses of HK$231,000,000
(2009: HK$262,000,000) can be carried forward from the
period ranging from 2009 to 2014 and the other tax losses

may be carried forward indefinitely.

According to the Tax Law, starting from 1 January 2008, 10%
withholding income tax will be imposed on dividends relating
to profits earned in the calendar year 2008 onwards to foreign
investors for the companies established in the PRC. For
investors incorporated in Hong Kong and holds at least 25% of
equity interest of PRC company, a preferential rate of 5% will
be applied. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with undistributed earnings of PRC subsidiaries for
which deferred tax liabilities were recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income was HK$Nil
(2009: HK$4,145,000). As at the end of the reporting period,
the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised amounted to
HK$18,724,000 (2009: HK$NIil).
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IEERLTA ()

R-E—ZTF=ZA=+—H K&
& 4 Ak B FAE T AER IR REF
2 B 75 k518 49 /560,000,000 7T (=
ETNEF 594,000,000;‘%7‘5)3@5@%}%
BEE HPHRZEHERR
ERBBEENEL(ZT hi
261,000,000/ 7L) - HR K RAF 2
i AR FE R - £R 560,000,000 7%
7T (=Z T A4 : 333,000,000/ 7T )
CEBUIEBERRELCHELE -
REBEE-_TTNF=ZA=T—RH1
FEA - ot £7141,000,000 7% T A&
%m%ﬁﬁmMﬁfm%WEA
e RN_T—ZTF=ZF=+—
H 231,000,000 L (ZEZENF :
262,000,000/ 70) W BB B =
TEENFE_T—NFHBLEE
HMMREBEnERALE -

BESELE A-ZTN\F—A—8
B RRBEK IR ERER
ZET)\BEFERRINAET MK
BB EMNI0%MBHTER - ®
EAFMKLEBEFRRAARD
5% EmzFmEE  AIZHEBER
5% o EHAPRFEMMBAR (MEEE
MEBEERGREVBERERER) K
SPEABFEBACEREZRBEAOE
(=TT HE : 41450008 7T) °
RBEBRR BEENBARIKRDIE
BRI (AR EHERECHBEEE)
2 E = R B 518,724,000 7% T
(ZZTNF &) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_-—F—FF=H=+—HIFFE

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS EBRER S
(@) Plans for Hong Kong employees (@ REBEEMRNEE
Defined benefit plan FE AT E
The Group is a member of a defined benefit plan which REEBEE— @R T MEE
was open to qualified employees of the Group’s Hong ® Ak B - #% &t &l % Fortune Star

Kong subsidiary, the plan is managed by Fortune Star
Tradings Ltd (“Fortune Star”) which is beneficially owned
by Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a director of the Company.
In December 2000, all the existing members of the
defined benefit plan were enrolled into a MPF Scheme
and their accrued benefits for the past services under the
defined benefit plan were frozen as at 30 November
2000. The defined benefit plan was closed to new

employees from December 2000 onwards.

Under the defined benefit plan, employees are entitled to
retirement benefits varying between 0% and 100% of
their final salary as at 30 November 2000 multiplied by
the pensionable service year up to 30 November 2000 on
attainment of a retirement age of 55. No other post-

retirement benefits are provided.

The most recent actuarial valuation of the defined
benefits plan assets and the present value of the defined
benefit obligation was carried out at 31 December 2009
by HSBC Life (International) Limited. The present values
of the defined benefit obligation, the related current
service cost and past service cost were measured using

the projected unit credit method.

Tradings Ltd [ Fortune Star] &
2 HAEENEEHRBER
AlzEEKEBZH - Fortune
StarNE R EAEARARRAE
EREREE R _ZTZTZEF
TR RERAGEERMT
EREBEAELL2HE—ITHRE
SETE - MBRFEREMERZ
SN BERBAAGHRETE
MR=—ZTZTETF+—A=+AH
WHRiE - B_ZTZEF+_A
B REBMGTETHRMET
MESER -

REFRERNE  BERF
JE R+ AR K 2 ik B A] B EX
MEKBHRESERER-ZF

TEt-A=tAMBEFS
MEE10%TEF - KUEE
SETTFT-AS AL
EEHRAK SRS FA - Ak
1.6 R SRR T <

REBFEEERATEREF
FEREzHOPBEGE -
TIEHEE ASRE (BE) BR
RAEl - RZBTZhF+ZA=
+— B e AT o FIEE M
YEIRE - B8 IR AR IS A AR
KR & 1) PR 7 A AR T B A TR A
B FEERE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (conminuED) 27. RRERFTE (&)
(@) Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued) (@) BEBEEMRMTE (&)
Defined benefit plan (Continued) AERFIGE (&)
The main actuarial assumptions used were as follows: FFTAMEEREREZNT :

31 December 31 December
2008
ZEENF
+=-—A=+—8
Discount rate BhIR =X 0%
Expected return on plan assets REEVESERE Rk 4%
The actuarial valuation shows that the market value of BEHERETAEEEN_Z
plan assets at 31 December 2009 was HK$1,479,000 (31 ZNFE+_A=+—HBZWE
December 2008: HK$985,000) and that the actuarial 14790008 T ( Z T NF
value of these assets represented 232% (31 December += A=+ — 8 : 985000 &
2008: 126%) of the benefits that were accrued to ) MZEEEZCKRERBE
members. TIHERGEIKERENRZ
2% (ZTZENF+ A=
—H :126%) °
Amount recognised in profit or loss in respect of the REZEREREEMNTEIER
defined benefit plan are as follows: WEEEAT :
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNEF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Expected return on plan assets HEIE ETE R 3R (48) (38)
Actuarial (gain) loss recognised FHBE (Bx) B
in the year TR (592) 564
Total, included in (other income) @et o Bat A (e A)
administrative expenses THX 526
The actual return on plan assets for the year was FEIEERAFEENER LR
HK$48,000 (2009: HK$38,000). /48000 L (Z T T NLF -

38,0008 7T) °

114 Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2009/10 Annual Report




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_-—F—FF=H=+—HIFFE

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (conminuED) 27. RRERFTE (&)
(@) Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued) (@) BEBEEMRMTE (&)
Defined benefit plan (Continued) AERFIGE (&)
The amounts included in the consolidated statement of AEEMNERKEMNEES A
financial position in respect of the Group’s retirement FEMBRARNEENT

benefit assets are as follows:

2010 2009
—E-%% “EENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T

Fair value of plan assets sFEIEEANTFE 1,479 985
Present value of funded obligations — #¥ZEFIBEHIRE ((F3)) (783)

At end of the year FR 842 202

Movements in the fair value of the plan assets are as AEEELAFENES N
follows:

2010 2009

—2-FF —ETNEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FAT

At beginning of the year F7) 985 938

Expected return of plan assets BETEIFBET O 48 38

Actuarial gains BESE 592 9
Assets transferred out to other EEHEMEECEE

employers (146) —

At end of the year FR 985
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (conTinUED) 27. BARBEREE ()
(@) Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued) (@) BEBEEMRMTE (&)
Defined benefit plan (Continued) AERFIGE (&)
Movements in the present value of the funded obligations AERBRENEBHOT

are as follows:

2010 2009
—E-—=F —ETNEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
At beginning of the year F5) 783 210
Actuarial losses BEEE — 573
Assets transferred out to other EEHMEFEE
employers —
At end of the year Fr 783
The major categories of plan assets, and the expected HEBEZFTEER  ULEER
rate of return at the end of reporting period for each FEBIAREHI R 2 TEHA[@ 2R =
category, are as follows: N
Expected return Fair value of plan assets
FRHEHR SAEEEQATE
2010 2009
R il =7
HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET TET

Debt instruments EEIA 1,470
Cash and cash ReRReE

equivalents B9
Weighted average INEFHEE

expected return EIE:H
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (conminueD)

(a)

(b)

Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued)

Defined contribution plan

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes the lower of HK$1,000
or 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs to the MPF
Scheme.

Plan for PRC employees

The employees employed in the PRC subsidiaries are
members of the state-managed retirement benefit
scheme operated by the PRC government. The PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to

make the required contributions under the scheme.

27. RARBEREE (#)

(a)

(b)

ABEBEEMRNE (H)

FUE G 8
AEERABERERREERL
—HBEEAE - ZATEINE
ERAKENEESIRTA -
ARBAGTEAEENES -
A& E 21,0008 B A
#r RN B95% o A 98 A & At &
o

7\ 7

RPEEE MRS

TEEARREANEENDS
B B U S R B R B IR R
REMEHE - PEMERRA
HREFEMNETANL @
BB EIHER - (ERRET
2o NG BRI 8 R E &
R — B IR REERE

AR -

EERBR AR
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z - F—F#=H=+—HIFFEF

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. B
Amount
&8
Notes Ordinary shares HK$'000
FiEE ZEREA FAT
Authorised: JETE:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 RZZZENEFMA—B K
each at 1 April 2008 and —EENF=A=1+—H
31 March 2009 BGRREMEO. 10/ L) iR 2,000,000,000 200,000
Share subdivision A& 10 54 (i) 6.000,000,000 —
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 HRZZE—ZTFE=F=+—H
each at 31 March 2010 S MEE0.0258 LAY E A% 8,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREUE:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 RZZEZNEFMA—AK
each at 1 April 2008 and —EEhF=A=+—H
31 March 2009 FREME0. 108 TH B 1,137,380,412 113,738
Share subdivision &t o #F (i) 3,412,141,236 —
Exercise of share options 1T BE A (ii) 1,280,000 32
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 HR-Z—ZF=H=+—H
each at 31 March 2010 FAREE0.0258 A E iRk 4,550,801,648 113,770
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=+—HILFZF

28. SHARE CAPITAL (continuED)

notes:

(U]

(i)

Pursuant to an announcement of the Company dated 30 November 2009
and an ordinary resolution passed on 18 December 2009, a share
subdivision was approved with effect from 21 December 2009 in which
each of the existing issued and unissued shares of HK$0.1 each in the
share capital of the Company would be subdivided into four shares of
HK$0.025 each. As at 21 December 2009, the authorised share capital of
the Company was HK$200,000,000 divided into 8,000,000,000 shares,
of which 1,137,380,412 shares were issued and fully paid. On this basis,
immediately after the share subdivision, the authorised share capital of
the Company comprised 4,549,521,648 issued shares and 3,450,478,352
unissued shares of par value HK$0.025 each.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, 1,280,000 share options under
the Share Option Scheme (as defined in note 29) were exercised at a
subscription price of HK$3.775 per share, resulting in the issue of
1,280,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each in the Company.

All the shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing

shares in all respects.

28. BRA (&)

FEE -

)

(if)

AT

BEARRZZTAF+—A=1+8
AMER=ZZEZEAF+ A+ N\HE
BMrEBRER BEROGHF =
ETAF+ B -+—BE% BHA
ANRREERABEIIBLERTR
KETROSHT ALK SHREE
0.025 8T - R—_ZETAF+-_A=-+
— B+ A2AAEERZA 200,000,000
7 7T % /4 8,000,000,000 & B% 5 - £
7 1,137,380,412 R A BETRER
B&fn o UL ER - R DIFE - AR
AEE A B IESREE 0.025 %
JL 2 4,549,521,648 R 2 BT &
3,450,478,352 IRAREITIRD ©

BHE-_Z-—ZTHFE-_A=+—ALTFE
A REERESTE (FE R 29)
T+ 1,280,000 A% i A% # LA & AR 3R §
8 3.775 B EITHE - BBARRFET
1,280,000 Bk B EI{A 0.025 Btz &
BRRRD ©

B P B B A fE PR A 7 T E B

MIRBABRNDFRARFHEE -

EERBR AR
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

29.

120

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the written resolution of the shareholders of the
Company dated 11 September 2003, the share option scheme
(the “Scheme"”) was approved and adopted.

The Scheme was established for the purpose of providing
incentives to directors and eligible persons. The Scheme will
remain in force for a period of ten years from adoption of the

Scheme. The Scheme will expire on 10 September 2013.

Under the Scheme, the board of directors (the “Board”) may at
their discretion grant options to (i) any director (including
executive directors, non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors) and employees of the Group in which
the Group holds an equity interest or a subsidiary of such
company; or (ii) any advisors, consultants, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners,
promoters, service providers of any member of the Group may
be determined by the Board from time to time to subscribe for
the shares of the Company (the “Shares”).

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date
of grant. The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the issued share capital of the Company at any point in
time. The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted to any individual in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue on the last
date of such 12-month period unless approval of the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained in accordance
with the Listing Rules.
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B B R M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 29. UREXNARZ (&)

(CONTINUED)

Options may be exercised during such period (including the
minimum period, if any, for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised) as may be determined by the Board
(which shall be less than ten years from the date of issue of the
relevant option). Options may be granted without initial
payment except the payment of HK$1 as consideration for
grant of option each time. The exercise price is equal to the
highest of (i) nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of the grant; and (iii) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five

business days immediately preceding the date of the grant.

(a) Share options granted on 23 December
2005

The following table discloses details of the Company’s
options granted on 23 December 2005 under the Scheme
held by employees (including a director) and movement

in such holdings during the year ended 31 March 2009:

ERAAREFERTHHR(E
EBRRITEASAERANREY
R(mA))TEBREGZHRHA
MERERTEREF A FES+
F) BRTAXMETERERE
BERRENREN BRETES
BIER N ROBR TRE - 17
EEEERTIRSE  ROE
B RO RE L B RERIAE
AIERMROETE - R n
EEERRL BRI OEE XA T
RFE B RERMREFHETIE -

(@) R-ZEZTEHEF+ZA=+=
BT R8I A

THREBR-_ZEZERF+-A
“H=ARTHERETET
ZEB(BREF)FELQF
BREFBLARBEZE_ZTZTAN
FZA=t+—HIEFERZ#
& :

Number of share options

fERESR

Outstanding at

Outstanding at

Exercise price 1 April 2008 31 March 2009
HK$ R-ZBENE Lapsed during R-BBHE
Category Date of grant TEE mA—H the year =B=+—H
BE B BH BT i RITEHE FREBEE HARITEHE
Director 23 December 2005
= —TTRF
+=-—A=+=H 2.125 2,400,000 (2,400,000) —

Exercisable at
the end of year

RERAITESR
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Share options granted on 23 December
2005 (Continued)

The options granted on 23 December 2005 may be

exercised in accordance with the following terms of the

Scheme as to:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

one-third of the options exercisable commencing
23 December 2005 to 22 December 2008, the fair
value of each option at the date of grant is
HK$0.4675;

one-third of the options exercisable commencing
23 December 2006 to 22 December 2008 with
vesting period from 23 December 2005 to 22
December 2006, the fair value of each option at
the date of grant is HK$0.4925; and

one-third of the options exercisable commencing
23 December 2007 to 22 December 2008 with
vesting period from 23 December 2005 to 22
December 2007, the fair value of each option at
the date of grant is HK$0.52.

29. URELZRRS (#)

(a)

A=

EERF+ZAZ=+=

BERTHBREE)

R-EERF+_A=-+=H
B ZEBRETRIETEI T
1EFRITIE

(i)

(if)

(iif)

—AZt+ZBHITTE=
DZ—HERE BR
BEREBERAZAF

BT 5046758 7T ¢
B-ZEERF+ A
TEREZFENFT

9 2 — B BRI K 0
TEME-FERF T+
—“A-t=gz-%%
ARE+ZA=t=R"
BREERLBAERAZ
»F B 1E 5 R0.4925 78

il
<

DZ—HBRERERE
AEHE -_TTRF+
—_AZt=B&E=-Z=E
tH&E+=A=Z+=H"
EREEREBERZ
NEEGFTA0S2ETT
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 29. UREZNFRZ (#)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Share options granted on 3 October 2006 by R-ZZEERFETA=ZHAERFT
Y85 PR
The following table discloses details of the Company’s TEREBER-_ZTREF+A=
options granted on 3 October 2006 under the Scheme BB BRESETZEER
held by employees (including directors) and movement in (BRESZ)FEATERER
such holdings during the year: BRRFANZES :
Number of share options
BREHE
Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding
at 1 April at 31 March at 31 March
2008 Cancelled 2009 Cancelled Exercised 2010
Exercise R-ZENE during R-ZEZThE during during R-B-8F
Category Date of grant price mA—B theyear =A=1+-H the year theyear =A=1+—-H
BE RiEAH TEE HATEHE FAEHEHE HATEBRE FAEHEE FAOEHE  HRTEHA
Directors 3 October 2006
% ZETNF
+HA=H 3.775 5,088,000 — 5,088,000 — (1,280,000) 3,808,000

Other employees 3 October 2006
Hibfgs ZZTRE
+A=H 3.775 14,784,000 (11,904,000) 2,880,000 (1,200,000) — 1,680,000

19,872,000 (11,904,000) 7,968,000 (1,200,000) (1,280,000 5,488,000

Exercisable at
the end of year
RERTAITEHE 5,312,000 5,488,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z - &

M BHRERME (&)

—BFEZA=+—HILFE

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Share options granted on 3 October 2006
(Continued)

The options granted on 3 October 2006 may be exercised

in accordance with the following terms of the Scheme as

to:

(i)

(iii)

up to 6,704,000 of the options exercisable
commencing 1 January 2008 to 31 December
2010, with vesting period from 3 October 2006 to
31 December 2007, the fair value of each option at
the date of grant is approximately HK$1.0325;

up to 14,008,000 of the options exercisable
commencing 1 January 2009 to 31 December
2010, with vesting period from 3 October 2006 to
31 December 2008, the fair value of each option at
the date of grant is approximately HK$1.1175; and

up to 21,312,000 of the options exercisable
commencing 1 January 2010 to 31 December
2010, with vesting period from 3 October 2006 to
31 December 2009, the fair value of each option at

the date of grant is approximately HK$1.1725.

29. URELZRRS (#)

(b)

EA—V?/\QE—I—H E&%
WEBRE (&)

R-ZZBERFTAZARHZ
R R AT AR IR AT &) T MY IRSRTT

1%

(i)

(if)

(iii)

TENEFE— A —

—TE-E2EF 4=
A=+—BAET#E&S
6,704,000 i &) & I # I

BEMEHBA_ZTZEX
F+A=AE-_ZZ
F+-A=+—08" &
REEARHBEBZA
FEEETA1.03258 7T

i
H

HN ||

TENEF— A —

—TE-EHF 4=
A=+—BAET#E&ES
14,008,000 A #) i A% K&
BETEHB_-_ZTZT;
F+A= Eé:%?i}\
F+-_/F=+—8" B
REEARERHBEBRBZA
FEMGFAB117538 7T
&

i
H

HN ||

NHl

—ZETF—f—

—TF+=
A=+—HATfER%
21,312,000 A% 9 B8 A% # 2
BETEHHR_ZTZTA
F+A=ZHBHEZZZT N
F+ZA=+—8" 8
BRERLBEEAZA
FAEGETA1.17258 7T -

i
H
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M
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=+—HILFZF

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 29. URELRZARZ (#)

(CONTINUED)

(c) Share options granted on 5 September 0 R=ZZEENFAAEHEET
2008 Y85 PR
The following table discloses details of the Company’s TEREBER-_ZTNFAAR
options granted on 5 September 2008 under the Scheme AR CEREFE T ZES
held by directors and movement in such holdings during REAREREFBERNFEA
the year: L EE

Number of share options

BREHE

Outstanding at Outstanding at Outstanding at

Exercise price 1 April 2008 Granted 1 April 2009 Exercised 31 March 2010

HKS  RAZZENF during R-ZEBRE during R=-Z-ZF

Category Date of grant e mA—H the year mA—A theyear =A=1+—H

BE REBRH BT MRTEHE FARFHEE HROEEBEE  FATEHE  HAOTEHE
Directors 5 September 2008

% —ZZ\FENARA 1.872 — 200,000,000 200,000,000 — 200,000,000

Exercisable at
the end of year

RERATTEEE — —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z - &

M BHRERME (&)

—BFEZA=+—HILFE

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Share options granted on 5 September
2008 (Continued)

The options granted on 5 September 2008 may be

exercised in accordance with the following terms of the

Scheme as to:

(i)

(iii)

up to 66,666,668 of the options exercisable
commencing 1 September 2009 to 31 August
2013, with vesting period from 5 September 2008
to 31 August 2009, the fair value of each option at
the date of grant is approximately HK$0.4075;

up to 133,333,332 of the options exercisable
commencing 1 September 2010 to 31 August
2013, with vesting period from 5 September 2008
to 31 August 2010, the fair value of each option at
the date of grant is approximately HK$0.48; and

up to 200,000,000 of the options exercisable
commencing 1 September 2011 to 31 August
2013, with vesting period from 5 September 2008
to 31 August 2011, the fair value of each option at
the date of grant is approximately HK$0.5325.

29. URELZRRS (#)

(9

A=

ZEZNFLAERET

MR AR ()

RZFZFNFALARBREZ
R R AT AR IR AT &) T MY IRSRTT

1%

(i)

(if)

(iif)

2

ZENFNA—AB
TE-—=FNA=+
— H 7] 17 ff £66,666,668
% B B A M S SEETT (R
HBE-_ZEENFNLAA
BHEZZZThFNA=
+—H BERELRD
ERZAFEMGHA
040758 7T

H-ZZE—TFNA—HZE
—E-=ZFNA=1+—
H ®] 77 ¥ %133,333,332
% B R A M S BEE TR
HERE-_ZEENFNAR
BE-_ZE—-ZF N NH=
+T—H BRELTRY
EAZAFEMTA
048%87T + &

B-E——FALA—H%
—E-=ZFNA=1+—
H ®] 17 {# %200,000,000
% B B A M S EETT (R
HAE-ZEZENFLAR
Rz-_2——F)\A=
+T—HB BRETRY
ERZAFEMGHA
0.5325/& 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FE M mARMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z - &

—BFEZA=+—HILFE

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

29. URELZRRS (#)

(c) Share options granted on 5 September

2008 (Continued)

The exercise of the options during the exercise periods
described in (i), (i) and (iii) above, commencing from 1
September 2009 to 31 August 2013, are subject to

(9

RZZZNFRAARET
MR AR ()
BE-ZZNFNA—BEE

Z-=Ff/\HA=1t—H JJ:?K‘J:
AT BRI AT 48 s ), (i) K (i)

achievement of pre-determined and specific profit targets BRER - BENAEED A
for the Group for each of the years ending 31 March REE_ZEENF —E—-F

2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively.

As at 31 March 2009, the performance conditions of the
share options were not met in respect of the actual
results for the year ended 31 March 2009 and it was not
probable that the profit targets for the other years would
be met based on a profit forecast performed by the
management as at 31 March 2009. Accordingly, no
share-based payments related to the share option granted
on 5 September 2008 were recognised as expense in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 March 2009.

The estimated total fair value with respect to share
options granted to directors and employees on 23
December 2005, 3 October 2006 and 5 September 2008
was HK$3,552,000, HK$23,653,000 and
HK$94,530,000, respectively.

An amount of HK$57,221,000 (2009: HK$6,485,000)
was charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as administrative expenses for the
year ended 31 March 2010.

FR-_FE——F=A=+—H
WFEEF 2B E R E ST
Bz

RZFZFAF=ZA=1+—8"
Bz REGEREEEE
E-TTNF=ZA=1+—81L
FEZERGR RABREE
BER_ZTEAF=ZA=T
—BAEZETIER - Hib e
FZ%WHFﬁ%Miﬁ°I
CHEARAR _ETN\FAN
ﬂﬂE%%ﬁ%k%Zk%i
NREBERBE_TTNF=HA
=T -BLEFEZGAZHENRK
BmRAER R/ -

MZZTETRFFT_A=Z+=
H - —ZEEZXF+A=BEZ
TENFNLAEAREZE
RETESERES - HbF4E
N FE{E 5 Bl /3,552,000 ¢
23,653,000 7 7T, }2.94,530,000 /%8
5% o

57,221,000 7 7T (2009 :
64850008 L) EEEE T
—ETF=A=+—ALFEZ
BRAEERBZRATHEERA
E\-Eo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z - &

PR Rk MY RE (4)
— A=t AUEE

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 29. URBELZFRNRES (8)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Share options granted on 5 September 0 R=ZZEENFAAEHEET
2008 (Continued) W R#E (&)
note: The above information has been adjusted to reflect the effect of M 5E © LA _E B R E P8 DA S Bkl B 5
share subdivision as set out in note 28 in which each of the 28 2B A/ZRE  BUA
existing issued and unissued shares of HK$0.1 each in the share RETFEREMER 0.1 ETZH
capital of the Company were subdivided into four shares of BEBITRABITROEIFA
HK$0.025 each. Each of the options were subdivided into four R B AREE A 0.025 BT 2 ik
options and the exercise prices were adjusted to the quarter of the 7 BHEREEHE D FHFREORKR
original exercise prices accordingly. IR A R TR ERRRAERIR
BTEENOYZ— -
30. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30. EXREKMEE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the AEEEBEERANBRASED
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while ERARELSEER ﬁiﬁﬂ?%
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation BRBELEAREREAEAREMRER
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy mER e REBMEEBKE ?%Eﬁi
remains unchanged from prior year. EF—H -
The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which TEBENERSEHEBOERE 9
includes the bank and other borrowings and equity attributable BRERBITREMEBEENRARD G #E
to equity holders of the Company, comprising issued share HaREAEGER(BESEITR
capital and various reserves. KR ZIERHEH) °
The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a KAREETRHBRAERLERE - 1F
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the REITN—HH  EFEERER
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of RANRESEERE @ E’JHEM
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group RBEEZEENEZ ~AEEHZBBR
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of N% 8 BITHR R R AR A &
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the FITRE S B O IR E T E g
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt. $mn 1% o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments

31

MBTA
(@) MBTEESE

2010 2009
Sl =7
HK$'000 HK$'000
FB7 T

434 5,064

3,854,562 3,799,287

Financial assets HBEE

Fair value through profit or loss BRSEE s A TE
— derivative financial instruments — $T4B K LA

Loans and receivables (including ERRERTE (BERe N
cash and cash equivalents) REFEEW)

Financial liabilities BsaE

Fair value through profit or loss BRSEE s A TE
— derivative financial instruments — $T4B BT A

Derivatives under hedge accounting ¥R & st N 2514 T A

Amortised cost BHA A

25,518 34,483
117,228 202,718
8,803,122 9,606,748

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, amounts due from an associate,
amount due from related companies, derivative financial
instruments, restricted bank deposits, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables and bank and other
borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(b) MEEMBEREEBMNRBE

AEEMTZEN B TARERE
W B 5 BR 3k R H i JE YR IE
FE W B N RIFRIE - R RS
BEARNIE - TEMBIA -
ERHBITFER - RITEH R
Re EHEZERKHMAE
NHERBITREMEE - 8
% T B &5 15 5 48 B8 BT & B
FBoHZEYBIAAHEMNR
BEREMSRBR(EERBR X
FMEREE)  FERER KT
Eo R - A& MZERRK
WIREESWNT - EBEEE
REZEZERR  UEREE
ERHIRAEE R IEE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

A mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market Risk

(i)

Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency transactions, which
expose the Group to market risk arising from
changes in foreign exchange rates. In order to
mitigate the foreign currency risk, foreign currency
forward contracts are entered into by the Group for
certain material foreign currency transactions.
Management will monitor other foreign currency
exposure closely and consider the use of hedging

instruments when the need arises.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s significant
foreign currency denominated monetary assets,
monetary liabilities and derivative financial

instruments at the reporting dates are as follows:

Monetary assets:

31. I TR (#)
(b) HHERMEEBMNRBEK

(%)

M5 R R

iy EBER
REBEFHEINIERS

HK$ BT
us$ e
GBP T
EUR BT
RMB AR
JPY Bt

THREBEAARINEE
KEFS| RHTIHER -
BT RESNERR K
SERLETERIIER
SR ERER -
ERERTIEREM
SNEE R KR - 3 E B B
ERERYUPTA -

AEBRHRE B AN

AEMEREBERE -
ERABERTTESRT
AMEEELT
ETHMEE -
2010 2009
=l —TTNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TAT
508,894 978,847
181,391 320,780
15,242 64,306
1,949 49,050
1,617 176
184 13
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminueD) 31. I TR (#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BHEAMESEEMNREE
policies (Continued) (&)
Market Risk (Continued) 5 ER (4&)
(i)  Currency risk (Continued) 0 BEERRE)
Monetary liabilities: TREE :
2010 2009
—E-TF —ETHhF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
HK$ BT 1,916,924 1,777,628
us$ ETT 1,051,835 965,092
EUR BT 6,858 30,121
JPY BT 443 4,137
RMB AR — 923
Derivative financial instruments: PTEBETA :
2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Assets &=
GBP H4m _
EUR BXIT 3,081
us$ EV 1,700
Liabilities =L
EUR BT 349
GBP 4 _
us$ EV 46,426
In addition, intercompany balances denominated in BHN - WE D AN
foreign currency are as follows: SHEM&SROT ¢
2010 2009
—E-2F —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TE T T
Assets EE
us$ EV 2,144,387 1,220,799
HK$ BT 279,389 281,457
RMB AR 243,148 182,243
Liabilities =L
us$ EV 2,144,387 1,220,799
HK$ BT 1,324,043 1,524,610
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

A mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market Risk (Continued)

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation of
HK$, US$, RMB, GBP, EUR and JPY. As HK$, the
functional currency of the relevant group entities, is
pegged with US$, the Group's currency risk in
relation to the above US$ monetary assets/liabilities

is expected to be minimal.

The following tables detail the Group’s sensitivity to
a 5% (2009: 5%) increase and decrease in the
functional currency of the relevant group entities
against the relevant foreign currencies to the extent
that the exposures have not been hedged. 5%
(2009: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and
derivative financial instruments and adjusts their
translation or fair value in the case of the derivative
financial instruments at the year ended for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates. On this basis,
there will be an increase/decrease in post-tax profit
where the functional currency of the relevant group
entities weaken against the foreign currencies by

5%, and vice versa.

31. I TR (#)
by HERBREEENOREE

(&)

5 ER (&)

(i)

BERER (&)

BRE DT
AEEBTEXBERLT X
T AR RE BT
METHEBEE - &
RAETT (KRR ZEE
B)EXTHE - BRA
SEEHLAXTEY
BEE/AENEERAR
B8 -

TRFLAEEBE L &
HARBROBERT B
THHBBEEETZBEZ
ee B8 LA R T 5%
(ZZ2EZENF :5%) 8
BRERE -5%(—ZTT A
F:5%) RERNRAEE
ERABERINE AR
REAMNSREREL X
REBRERINEE XK
& 32 A Be B B 1E &Y 5T
e MREDTIBE
LAONESTERMRENE
BIEE ROTEMB LA -
WHREERAETEY
BIEEXRATE:
LA f Bt ) & BB 3R ) 59% %
o EELMEET E
EHREBRER 2R E
B S ONEE BT [B5% 0 Fiig
BR&ENRL R
Z IR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminueD) 31. MBI HE#E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BBEMESEBENRBER
policies (Continued) (4&)
Market Risk (Continued) mEERE (&)
(i)  Currency risk (Continued) iy E®RRKE)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BRE DM (&)

Increase (decrease)
In post-tax profit
BEERAEMD ORL)

2010 2009
—EB-EF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET

HK$ BT (100,478) (89,665)
us$ E (56,090) (30,818)
RMB AREE 10,403 7,708

GBP HgE 648 3,215

EUR BT (209) 946

JpY HT (13) (206)
Derivative financial instruments TTEFHBITA

Decrease

In post-tax profit

BERFIALD
2010 2009
—z-z5 VR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH FHT
EUR BT 1,561 5.069
GBP B 4,003 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—ZF—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED) 31. MBI H#®)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and R EEE N REER
policies (Continued) (4&)
Market Risk (Continued) mEEE (&)
(i) Interest rate risk (i)  F=EER
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk AEEEAEBBRTER
in relation to fixed-rate borrowings. The Group BENRFENERR -
currently does not have a fair value interest rate risk AEBEBAWERNTFE
hedging policy. However, management monitors B R b P IR o A
fair value interest rate exposure and will consider m BEEEERQTE
hedging significant fair value interest rate exposure FERRE THERANKE
should the need arise. BREFEHHREAHQF
BN & g -
The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate RNEBITAARERBZ
risk in relation to variable-rate bank borrowings. It ERTBENRERE
is the Group’s policy to keep its borrowings at fixed FERER AEEHRK
interest rate 5o as to minimise the cash flow interest ERRFEBEUEER
rate risk. In order to achieve this result, the Group FELUBREAEF
entered into certain interest rate swaps to partially KRR ERIE o Bt
hedge against its exposures to variable interest-rate REBETZETHEE
of bank borrowings. The critical terms of these HURRITEEN TR
interest rate swaps are similar to those of hedged [\ Bz 3 17 B 3 o o &
borrowings. These interest rate swaps are LR X2 ) ERER
designated as effective hedging instruments and HE R & B B AR o
hedge accounting is used. ZEMEEHRHERE
MEHB TR WFEAY
HEEA -
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e mRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_-—F—FF=H=+—HIFFE

31. I TR (&)

B R E
(&)

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conivueD)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BEEMWRBER

policies (Continued)

Market Risk (Continued) miZRAR (&)

(i) Interest rate risk (Continued) iy FERR(E)
Sensitivity analysis BRE S

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for both
non-derivative and derivative instruments at the
end of the reporting period. For variable-rate bank
borrowings, to the extent that they are not hedged
by effective instruments, the analysis is prepared
assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the
balance sheet date was outstanding for the whole
year. A 50 basis points increase or decrease in
interest rate is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the

reasonably possible change in interest rates.

For bank borrowings, if interest rate had been 50
basis points higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 March 2010 would decrease/
increase by HK$23,599,000 (2009: decrease/
increase by HK$24,568,000).

For derivative financial instruments, the sensitivity
analysis below has been determined assuming that
interest rate had been 500 basis points higher and
all other variables were held constant, the impact

on the Group’s profit and equity, and vice versa.

THI e BRE DR B
REEBFEITERITE
TEMMEXREREE -
BhFRBIRITEE B %
EHRHBLEEYLIFAEA
MTEEF D TBRR
RBERARRENARE
R EREHAKRENTR
B o 50 & BB 0 EKOR
RERNAETEERAE
PE ¥R ) & 2 ez B B A &Y
BRELE REEE

Bt 3 ) 2 3 7 e
A -
BERTEETE A

E 55 EF T BR50E
2 META H S e

HRE AEERE =
—T4=H=+—~

IFFEENBEZ BT R
’J‘/i 123,599,000 % 7T

—TTENF @D
hn 24,568,000 7T ) °

OTEMBTAMS -
AT BREE DT RR
A & F+500 f& £ B i A7
BREMESREFTE
HEAEE RN R #Em
WEE UEHERER
MFEE -
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RE B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—ZF—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 31, T E#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEREREEB N REE
policies (Continued) (4&)
Market Risk (Continued) mEEE (&)
(i) Interest rate risk (Continued) iy F=ERB(E)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BRERE D (E)
Increase in Increase in
profit equity
BRI RERIE N
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
At 31 March 2010 —T-EF=A=+—H 92 1,239
At 31 March 2009 —ETNF=A=+—H 856 3,954
Credit risk BEERR
As at 31 March 2010, the Group’s maximum exposure to RZE—ZEF=F=+—H"
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group REBHREFHRERITEE
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the MERHBEREINESEER
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the %K B 46 B AR R E S B
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the ECMAYMBEENREE -

consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the REEREKEERR  ~&E
Group has delegated a team responsible for BEEECZA—HABETERE
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other ERE - - FEEHAREME
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is TR - R E S HA B IR
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group REURESTE) o fboN  NEEH
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt EREEERBREARENSHE
at the end of the reporting period to ensure that FIMER 2 T RE S5 - LR
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable MEEWEEBERTHRE
amounts. In this regard, the directors consider that the BiE -t BEERR/LAEEH
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced. ZEERRBERKED -
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B B R R MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—ZF—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

31. I TR (&)
BREREER N REE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conivueD)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b)

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on amounts
due from an associate and related companies. Trade
receivables consist of a large number of customers,

spread across diverse industries and geographical areas.

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash

flows.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on
the agreed repayment terms. For non-derivative financial
liabilities, the tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate

curve at the end of the reporting period.

(&)

EERR (&)
MRS T RBEREEFR
BEIRSEEFRZRT
BRBHESZEERBRER -

AEBEMEWEER R NLERH
RAEAFEFEETEERR -
RUEZERBRAEEP -
MEZETERIMERE -

k=i
REERBESRBRME @ A
SEERLAEREGRREAS
AEBEEERHTES AR
BRERENDFEZRER
ReFEWKF -

TN ER R AR IR AR 155 TE AR SR AR K
AEEzRBENRTAN
A - MIETESRMAEM
5 FRDRBEAKEBER
RREAHERZERABERRS
RASRENEDL - TREEHE
MNERAGRERE - ERE
BEL FEREFHHE
AR SBEREBREHRNF
HRAR ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

A mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZE

31. I TR (#)
BREMEER N REE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b)

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

In addition, the following table details the Group’s
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments.
The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted contractual net cash (inflows) and outflows
on derivative instruments that settle on a net basis, and
the undiscounted gross (inflows) and outflows on those
derivatives that require gross settlement. When the
amount payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has
been determined by reference to the projected interest
rates as illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end
of the reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the
Group’s derivative financial instruments are prepared
based on the contractual maturities as the management
consider that the contractual maturities are essential for
an understanding of the timing of the cash flows of

derivatives.

For derivative instruments settled on a net basis,
undiscounted net cash flows are presented. Whereas they
require gross settlement, the undiscounted gross inflow
and outflow on these derivatives are shown on the table.

(&)

nBETRR (&)

o TRELRARENTES
BMTRAZRBESNT - ZRTY
ERBRFEEENITETR
URBRANRSFERAR
M AREREEZTET
Bt EZ RBBRARA KR H
AR o s A SRR B E
AR BERED2RN®RE R
RER AT A = Yo 25 o AR BT FEUR
MERETE  ANEERESOD
HRETHITESRITAENR
HUEST  EEERB/EHE
HADTHITESRIARS
mZERNERRE -

BRREENITE T AARES
RREREFHREY - RAHE
BEMITETANRBRTA
Kb R TRET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminueD) 31. MBI HE#E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BBEMESEBENRBER
policies (Continued) (4&)
Liquidity and interest risk tables MEE & LA X E R R

Carrying

Weighted amount at
average Total 31 March
effective undiscounted 2010
interest rate Less than 3 months to cash flows R-Z-ZF
ERFI=Z 1month  1-3 months 1 year 1-5years Over5years XiTEREHK =A=1+-AH
nETSE  ASR-ER -E=fR Z@ERE-F -Z1% BBRE Bt ZEEE
3 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000

BAk TET TET TR TR TET TET TR

2010
Non-derivative
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables ~ EREEZREM

— current FE—RY 1,283,805 424,028 22,590 1,730,423 1,730,423
Bank and other borrowings  $R17 R E i fE &

— fixed rate — T8 - 144,188 54,783 265,077 464,048 442,898

— variable rate — %8 307,178 501,443 1,517,002 4,609,621 6,935,244 6,629,801

1,590,983 1,069,659 1,594,375 4,874,698 9,129,715 8,803,122

Derivatives fTETR

— net settlement — BBk
Interest rate swaps FRisHE 86,205 121,325 238,534 139,203
Foreign currency forward — SNEIRHIAH)

contracts 1,240 EALE] EALE]

87,445 121,325 242,077 142,746
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

A mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #HZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=+—HI FZF

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuED) 31. MBI H#®)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BBEMESEBENRBER
policies (Continued) (4&)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (Continued) RBES MAERRRE (&)
Carrying
Weighted amount at
average Total 31 March
effective undiscounted 2009
interest rate Less than 3 months cash flows R=ZZNE
S Tmonth  1-3 months to 1 year 1-5years  OverSyears  K#fEAE =A=+—-A

mERSE SR-ER  —EZ=f@A Z@AE-F£  —ERFf  BRELF  RE&H  JBEE
%  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Bl TET TR TET TET TAT TR TR

2009
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Trade and other payables  ER R E M
— current B — e - 138,565 115,183 447,258 - — 701,006 701,006
Bank and other borrowings R4 RE M E
— fixed rate — T8 6.01 439,736 188,087 185,331 — 1,189,142 2,002,296 1,528,168
— variable rate — %8 261 1,712,575 259,960 2,068,759 3,178,027 — 7,219,321 7,013,532
Other payables HinfER 08
— non-current —3ERE 3.90 - — - 392,763 - 392,763 364,042
2,290,876 563,230 2,701,348 3,570,790 1,189,142 10,315,386 9,606,748
Derivatives fIETR
— net settlement — BERN
Interest rate swaps Flkisty — 26,326 70,246 195,725 — 292,297 190,426
Currency structured HBEEBIA
instruments 349 — — — — 349 349
349 26,326 70,246 195,725 — 292,646 190,775
Derivatives FTETR
— gross settlement —BERgR
Cross currency interest RNERFIRES
rate swaps
— inflow — A — — (42,288) (200,878) (856,845)  (1,100,011) (619,020
— outflow — — — 43,222 207,468 931,822 1,182,512 665,446
— — 934 6,590 74,977 82,501 46,426
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #HZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=+—HI FZF

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminueD) 31, T E#)
(c) Fair Value (o 2~¥E&E

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities WBREERMBEBEZATE

are determined as follows: BIATHRETE -

e the fair values of derivative financial instruments e TEMBIAZAFE
are calculated using discounted cash flow analysis DREFIMGHRES
based on the applicable yield curves of interest B2 R R R HN S fE R 2
rates and foreign exchange rates as determined by EABHRE  RBREEH
counterparty financial institutions. RReREDMABEE

FTE

e the fair values of financial assets and financial s UWBEERMBAECT
liabilities (excluding derivative financial instruments) BETEMBETIERE) 2R
are determined in accordance with generally TEHREARTEERN
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash LAERBABERNEBERET
flow analysis using prices from observable current BRGEHIIRE S
market transactions. MEDTRELEHE -

The directors consider the carrying amounts of financial EERRRBHKAREGZA R

assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost BHRETKR IV BEERMB

in the consolidated financial statements approximate to BEZEEERARNFEME

their fair values. & o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_-—F—FF=H=+—HIFFE

31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD) 31.
(c) Fair Value (continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 2 based on

the degree to which the fair value is observable.

—  Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market

for identical assets or liabilities.

—  Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices).

—  Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs for
the asset or liability that are not based on

observable market data (unobservable inputs).

B TAE)
(0 2FEFE)

AN R R 2~ FER

=

==N

TR RV HERBEREAR
FEEAEZEMTARRE
AFEATEEZEENI /=
2 DT

- HFRRAFEFEEN
HEEBRTZHEREE
HEEREGZME CRE
FE)ETZAE -

- F-_HAAFEAEHEN
F—MAABREZHEMN
SN2 BERBERE
REH(EHRITHEK(H
B km & (AIRER
HE))ETZAHE -

- FE=ZRMRAFEFERS
BERYFERAEER
THEENZEELAR
EH(TABRZE8)
ZIEETEETZAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R R MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—ZF—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conivueD)

(c) Fair Value (continued)

31. I TR (&)
(@ AFEE)

31 March 2010

Level 2
—EFF
ZA=t+—H
2R
HK$'000
FAET
Financial assets at fair value REZRNUKEELTE
through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments PTHEMBEIA 434
Financial liabilities at fair value REZAMKEEELAFE
through profit or loss
Derivative under hedge accounting hest TAOTAET A 117,228
Other derivatives not under hedge HE A hast THOTETA
accounting 25,518

There were no transfer between the 3 levels during the

year.

32. ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL INTERESTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES

In October 2008, the Group acquired the remaining 10%
equity interests in each of the two subsidiaries from their
minority shareholders at an aggregate consideration of US$35.
The excess of the carrying amount of the net liabilities acquired
over the fair value of the consideration paid has been debited

directly to equity.

FA - ZERHLEES -

32. WIEMIE 1 R A MER

RZZEZENF+A AEEBAEAMK
Bt B R &) 2 > 8% 5 UK B % ) B
BRAl&HT10%KRE BR1EA
B(ETFMBBEEFEZEERS
BHLANREBEZAFEZEED
BEERERPNRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—ZF—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 33. HEMEBLQH

RZEZENF+A+HB A&
B3 ¥8 37 55 = J5 Worthy Pick Group
Limited?] Z E B » Bt - A&
& Worthy Pick Group Limited ) & £
REBEMRME A A2 IBARE © %
BHEERZ=ZZZT/\F+A+HA
BT ZRRFR A GER I E
WHE AT e

On 15 October 2008, the Group and Worthy Pick Group
Limited, an independent third party, entered into a sales and
purchase agreement pursuant to which the Group disposed of
its entire equity interests in two subsidiaries in the United States
to Worthy Pick Group Limited. The disposal was approved by
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held on 15
October 2008, and was completed on the same date.

The aggregate amounts of the net assets of the subsidiaries on MEBEARNHERBMNGEEEER
the date of disposal were as follows: B E N

HK$'000

FET

NET ASSETS DISPOSED OF HEEEFER
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB R 212,002
Deferred tax assets RIETIEEE 42,161
Inventories FE 94,724
Other receivables Hith e GRIA 49,414
Bank balances and cash RITEBRERS 5,945
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 8RR  E M T FRIA (205,356)
Net assets disposed of HEBEFHE 198,890
Loss on disposal HEELZEE (1,820)
Total consideration BRE 197,070
Satisfied by: A
Cash Re 20,000
Deferred consideration (note) EERE (P 177,070

197,070
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEECRSRAFE -
Cash consideration ReREB 20,000
Bank balances and cash disposed of HERTEHRLES (5,945)

14,055
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z - &

—EEZ A —HILFE

33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continueD) 33. HEMBLQRE (&)
The deferred consideration will be settled in cash by the BRZR NI R E AR & X TR
purchaser in series of payments as follows: ERAE

(i) HK$30 million by 31 December 2008;

(i) HK$30 million by 31 March 2009;

(i) HK$30 million by 30 June 2009;

(iv)  HK$30 million by 30 September 2009;

(v)  HK$30 million by 31 December 2009 and,;

(vi)  HK$30 million by 31 March 2010.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group and Worthy
Pick Group Limited agreed to postpone the repayment dates of
the last two instalments which the directors of the Company
expected them to be settled within one year from the end of
the reporting period.

note: The present value of the deferred consideration as at 15 October 2008
was determined using cash flows discounted at an effective interest rate

of 3.71% per annum.

iy RZEENFEF+_A=+—H
X 43,0008 % 7T ¢

iy MN-EZANF=ZA=+—HBX
13,0008 8 7T ¢

iy RZBEENFAA=ZF+BEZM
3,0008 & 7T
vy RZEZNFLA=Z+BXM

3,0008 87T

vy, MN-ZEZEAF+-_A=+—8
Y 43,0008 0 &

Vi) RZE—ZF=-A=+—HX
43,0008 8 7T °

HEZZT—ZTF=-A=+—Lt#F
£ W & % B KWorthy Pick Group
Limited [7] & T 4B & & M Bt ;A 2
B ARREFRAHEBNKRE
HR—FRNEE -

F: RZTET)N\F+A+HEB - BEEREZ

REANRERBESFERNE3.71%
VI RRREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z - &

34.

35.

S BERERME (&)
—FEZ AT AU EE

OPERATING LEASES
The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings,
which fall due as follows:

. REHEY
SEEREBEA

K& AR AEBERET A HH
Mt kBFEEHRONBREN
WEREHESOT

Within one year —FR

In the second to fifth year inclusive FFRFERFNA
(BIEERME)

After five years FRFE

2010 2009
—z-z5 VR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH7 FET
7,664 20,242
26,827 98,223
245,245 513,685
279,736 632,150

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for lands and certain of its office properties. For lands,
leases are negotiated for an average term of twenty years and
rentals are negotiated every year. For office properties, leases
are negotiated for an average term of one year with fixed
rentals.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

35.

REMSHEASER T REET
MOoEMEEMNOES - L HE
HEH—_+F H2UEFHT -
#)J#/“*%%E’ﬁﬁﬁﬂfﬁﬁ F - HA

Capital expenditures contracted for but F£E
not provided in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of
acquisition of:

— property, plant and equipment

— land use rights — TR

FIRVEARR AR B M HRER P
BREABUENEARX

—BEYE  BEERE

B A EE
2010 2009
—z-z5 [t
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
1,016,229 900,161
19,347 48,351
1,035,576 948,512
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

= A
=

MBI (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZE

36.

37.

NON-CASH TRANSACTION 36.

The Group's acquisition of property, plant and equipment of
HK$89,536,000 (2009: HK$918,844,000) was settled through
transfer of deposits paid in the prior or current year.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 37.
DISCLOSURES

During the year, the Group had significant transactions with
related parties, certain of which are also deemed to be
connected parties pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Significant transactions with these parties during the year are
as follows:

(@) Connected and related party transactions

FREXRF

AEEBWBDE BEERXE
89,536,000 & ;L( = T T N F:
918,844,000/ 7L ) B R F E sk &
FENEMNTEEA -

BEENMBEATRE

FA - FEEABALIEEAR
5 & T RIE £ AR R AR
REEANL -

ER RREALRITHEATS
mE

() BERHEBATIXRS

2010 2009
Nature of —E-ZF ZETNEF
Name of party transactions HK$'000 HK$'000
BEALERE REME FHET FHT
Lee & Man Industrial Finished goods sold EEHERK S
Manufacturing (note i) by the Group 153,193 145,958
B E % () Income from steam and £ B[R E R
electricity provided by BB HZ KA
the Group 5,580
Raw material purchased £ B B R # #
by the Group 1,412
Lee & Man Paper Products Licence fee paid by EEBE A
Limited (note i) the Group e 978
BYEmBRAE (1)
Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Income from steam and & B {2 2 |
(note i) electricity providedby ~ REhHZHA
T #3230 T (i) the Group 63,011 20,262
Raw materials purchased &£ B A 2
by the Group Bt 9,828 —
notes: B 5
(i) The company is indirectly wholly owned by a daughter of Mr. Lee (i) ZN R ARD R EE R
Wan Keung, Patrick, a director and the ultimate controlling party FEEREECAREETER

of the Company.

(ii) The company is beneficially owned by Mr. Lee Wan Keung, Patrick,
a director and the ultimate controlling party of the Company.

Ko

(i ZARBEREEERBZEEH
TEEREERREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

A mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #ZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=1+—HI FZE

37. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continuEeD)

(b) Related party transactions

Nature of
transaction

REHE

Name of party

BMEALER

(b)

FSGL
by the Group

Interest income accrued S EFEETHI 2 U A

(c) Connected and related party balances

Details of the Group’s outstanding balances with
connected and related parties are set out in the
consolidated statement of financial position and notes 20
and 21.
(d) Compensation of key management
personnel

The remunerations of the directors and other members of

key management during the year were as follows:

(@

(d)

Short-term benefits HEEF
Post-employment benefits RURAEF
Share based payments RRAEZ T FIE

HEALEXRS

2010
—g-%5

HK$'000
FRET

37. BEREBBALIRE (&)

2009
—EENF
HK$'000
FET

16,004

BE KA A L AR

BENMABATHIAAEEZ
EHRFBE HI NS SR
R K HTFE20 21 °

TEEEEREHMH

EENHEBTIEEREKER

FRAZMEHT :

2010
= i
HK$°000
TR
10,072

57

56,710

66,839

2009
—EFEENF
HK$'000
FET
11,091

60
1,147

12,298
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REPBHmRMWE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #HZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=+—HI FZF

38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF RABRETEMBRAFE

THE COMPANY

38.

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March
2010 and 31 March 2009 are as follows:

Place of incorporation/
establishment/registration
and operations

Nominal value of issued

and fully paid share

capital/registered capital

ARAEEHBAAR-T—F4

A=+ -HRZETAF=A=

T—HRFRET

Name of subsidiary MR/ R B R BRITRMRKRE/ Proportion ownership interest held by the Company Principal activities
HEAREH EELE EMRAHEE ARARSEERETRELA TEEY
Directly Indirectly
HE E:3
2009
ZETNEF

Able Advance International
Limited

Lee & Man Industries Company
Limited

British Virgin Islands (note i)
EERAES (W)

British Virgin Islands (note i)
EEERAS (i)

Ordinary shares — US$4
B —4xT

Ordinary share — US$1
LRk — 1%L

100%

Investment holding

RAER

Investment holding

REAR

Vantage Dragon Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share — HK$2 100%  Investment holding

FIEBBR AR EE Limlk — 28T RAER

Evergreen Trading Company Malaysia Ordinary shares — US$2 100%  Procurement of
Limited BRAED LRk —2%T raw materials

Lee Kwok (Macao Commercial Macau MOP100,000 100% Procurement of
Offshore) Trading Limited B $8P9100,0007T raw materials

ME CRPIEEEAERE) IREBRE
B5BRAE

Wang Kei (Macao Commercial ~ Macau MOP100,000 100%  Export trading
Offshore) Trading Limited pelis| 8P 100,0007C of paper

BE (RPRFEERS) HREDES
BHERAF

RRESCERBERAT PRC (note i) Registered capital — 100% Manufacturing and

(Dongguan Lee & Man Paper R (BT i) US$156,480,000 trading of paper
Factory Co., Ltd.) AfER— EHEERES

156,480,000% 7

BEREERAR AT PRC (note ii ) Registered capital — 100% Manufacturing and

(Guangdong Lee & Man Paper  #& (FffzE i) US$530,000,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Limited) AfEr— EHEERES

530,000,000 %7T
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A mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #HZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=+—HI FZF

38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF 38. XA B FEMEB LA BFEE (&)
THE COMPANY (conTinUED)

Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of issued
establishment/registration  and fully paid share
and operations capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary ML R ERR ERITRMRRE/ Proportion ownership interest held by the Company Principal activities
HEARER EENY HEMRAEE EARBEREREERLA TEER
Directly Indirectly
B [5E73
2009
“TENEF
TEEGERERAT PRC (note i) Registered capital — 100% Manufacturing and
(Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper HE (HEE ) US$322,120,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Company AfER— EREERES
Limited) 322,120,000 %7T
EFEERERAR PRC (note i) Registered capital — 100% Manufacturing and
(Chongqing Lee & Man Paper e (B3t ii) US$185,980,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Company AfER— EHEERES
Limited) 185,980,000 T
Vietnam Lee & Man Paper Vietnam US$64,478,874 100% Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Limited HiE 64,478,874 %7T trading of paper
EHEERES
Vietnam Lee & Man Pulp Vietnam US$13,910,561 100% Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Limited fil] 13,910,561 &7T trading of pulp
AREERES
notes: (T
(i) These companies operate in Hong Kong. (i) ZENREBRBEE -
(i) These companies are foreign investment enterprises established in the (i) ZEQRAREPEKILZIERER
PRC. ¥
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in EFRIINEBEERAFEFELRE
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or XEREEHRBBENARRNE
assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other NAEl- BEERE  WEEMKB R
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in AN EeFEANFERLRE &
particulars of excessive length. KEVEHZEZEER
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at REHEBRFRNEMERE - 5B
the end of the year, or at any time during the year. RABETAREENEBES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #HZE_—F—FTF=ZHA=+—HI FZF

39. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 7 June 2010, the Group entered into agreements with
Resource Management Service, LLC (“RMS”), an independent
private timberland investor, to dispose of the Group’s entire
investment in FSGL, an associate of the Group, and transfer the
amounts due from FSGL to RMS, at a consideration of
approximately HK$410,700,000. The transaction has not yet
been completed at the date of this report.

39.

WmEHEKREIE
RZE—ZFTFNALtH A&
8 A KM R B A FlResource

Management Service, LLC([RMS ) %5
#] %% + bA410,700,000 7% 7T & R B
HERRE R ERBIFSGLZ 1A
& N ¥ % B WFSGLEN IE TRMS ©
RAREBBARZMARTHK °
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2N B B B AR R 3R

The summarised statement of financial position of the Company as AR AR _ZE—ZFEF=ZA=+—HBN =

at 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009 are follows: EENF=ZA=F+—BZ2HBRAEHR
o

2010 2009
—E-ZF —EZNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Investment is subsidiaries WEARIRE 637,977 637,977
Other receivables FE W E i BR 30 15,677 13,946
Amount due form an associate JFE A Bt 22 N B Rk TE 136 136
Amounts due form subsidiaries JE WS BT 8 A R SR IE 7,133,440 8,299,448

Bank balances RITHEE R 538 224

Total assets BEEBE 7,787,768 8,951,731

Derivative financial instruments PTHEFKITA 117,227 202,718
Amount due to a subsidiary FERT— R B A R A 129,050 350
Other payables JE A<F L Ath BR 3K 9,437 18,303
Unsecured bank borrowings EXFIRITEES 2,470,000 3,616,800

Total liabilities BERE 2,725,714 3,838,171

5,062,054 5,113,560

Share capital % 2 113,770 113,738
Reserves HE 4,948,284 4,999,822

Total equity B 5,062,054 5,113,560
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5th Floor, Liven House, 61-63 King Yip Street
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Tel: 2319 9889 Fax: 2319 9393
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